Örebro Studies in Medicine 320



Magdalena Kättström

Immune response to pneumococcal vaccination in chronic lymphocytic leukemia

Author: Magdalena Kättström Title: Immune response to pneumococcal vaccination in chronic lymphocytic leukemia

**Publisher:** Örebro University, 2025 www.oru.se/publikationer

Print: Örebro University, Repro 04/2025

ISSN: 1652-4063 ISBN: 978-91-7529-647-0 (print) ISBN: 978-91-7529-648-7 (pdf)

## Abstract

Patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) are at increased risk of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* infections due to disease- and treatment-related immune dysfunction. Vaccine responses are often impaired. This thesis evaluates the immune response to primary immunization with pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV) versus pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPSV), long-term antibody persistence and the effect of revaccination in CLL patients.

**Study I** was a randomized trial in treatment-naïve CLL patients comparing PCV and PPSV, demonstrating that PCV elicits an enhanced immune response.

**Study II** was a prospective study evaluating B-cell subsets and plasmablast dynamics before and after revaccination. It showed that repeated revaccinations with PCV in CLL patients improves early humoral response.

**Study III** assessed antibody persistence 5 years after primary immunization and response to revaccination, showing that CLL patients have poor long-term antibody persistence, but that revaccination with PCV enhances immunity.

**Study IV** examined the impact of two analytical methods, multiplex immunoassay (MIA) and enzyme immunoassay (EIA), on serotypespecific IgG measurements and demonstrated their influence on vaccine response interpretation in CLL patients.

The findings in this thesis emphasize the importance of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines in CLL patients and suggest a need for revaccination to maintain protection against severe pneumococcal disease.

Keywords: chronic lymphocytic leukemia, secondary immunodeficiency, vaccine response, pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine, pneumococcal conjugate vaccine, pneumococcal revaccination Inne i dig öppnar sig valv bakom valv oändligt.

Du blir aldrig färdig och det är som det skall.

Tomas Tranströmer Ur "Romanska bågar"

אני ואתה נשנה את העולם

אריק איינשטיין

# **Table of Contents**

List of papers	7
Abbreviations	8
Introduction	.10
Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	. 10
CLL biology	. 10
CLL treatment	. 12
Overview of the immune system	. 14
Innate immunity	. 14
Adaptive immunity	. 15
Immune dysfunction in CLL	. 19
Disease-related immune dysfunction	. 19
Treatment-related immune dysfunction	. 22
Infectious complications in CLL	. 24
Infection risk, types of infection and prevention	. 24
Pneumococcal infections	. 26
Pneumococcal vaccines	. 27
Pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine, PPSV	. 27
Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine, PCV	. 28
Aspects on revaccination with pneumococcal vaccines	. 30
Assessment of antibody response to pneumococcal antigens	. 31
Enzyme immunoassays	. 31
Multiplex immunoassays	. 32
Opsonophagocytic assay	. 33
Cut-offs and correlate of protection	. 34
Pneumococcal vaccination in CLL	. 36
Vaccination recommendations	. 36
Current knowledge on antibody response to pneumococcal vaccination in	
CLL	. 37
Aims of the thesis	.41

General	41
Aims of the individual studies	41
Materials and Methods	42
Study I	42
Study II	44
Study III	45
Study IV	47
Statistical analysis	48
Ethical considerations	50
Results	52
Study I	52
Study II	53
Study III	56
Study IV	59
General discussion	61
Efficacy of pneumococcal vaccines in CLL	61
Long-term immunity and revaccination strategies	62
Immune cell responses to pneumococcal vaccines	65
Immune response in treated CLL patients	66
Challenges in evaluating vaccine responses	67
Clinical and future aspects	69
Optimizing vaccination guidelines and identifying high-risk subgroups	s 69
Future research directions	71
Limitations	73
Conclusions	75
Svensk sammanfattning (Summary in Swedish)	76
Acknowledgements	77
References	80

## List of papers

This thesis is based on the following studies, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. T. Svensson, M. Kättström, Y. Hammarlund, D. Roth, P-O. Andersson, M. Svensson, I. Nilsson, L. Rombo, H. Cherif, E. Kimby. Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine triggers a better immune response than pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. A randomized study by the Swedish CLL group. Vaccine. 2018 Jun 14;36(25):3701-3707. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.05.012.
- II. M. Kättström, B. Uggla, E. Tina, E. Kimby, T. Norén, S. Athlin. Improved plasmablast response after repeated pneumococcal revaccinations following primary immunization with 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine or 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Vaccine. 2023 May 5;41(19):3128-3136. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2023.04.016.
- III. M. Kättström, B. Uggla, C. Virta, M. Melin, N. Ekström, A. Magnuson, P-O. Andersson, Y. Hammarlund, S. Lockmer, I. Nilsson, D. Roth, M. Svensson, T. Tolf, E. Kimby, T. Norén, S. Athlin. Revaccination with pneumococcal conjugate vaccine five years after primary immunization improves immunity in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Haematologica. 2025 Mar 6. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2024.286942. Epub ahead of print.
- IV. M. Kättström, C. Virta, M. Melin, N. Ekström, A. Magnuson, T. Tolf, E. Kimby, T. Norén, B. Uggla, S. Athlin. Impact of multiplex serological testing versus enzyme immunoassay on pneumococcal vaccine response in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. In manuscript.

Reprints were made with permission from the respective publishers.

## **Abbreviations**

APC	antigen presenting cell
BCL2	B-cell lymphoma 2
BCL2i	B-cell lymphoma 2 inhibitor
BCR	B-cell receptor
BTK	Bruton's tyrosine kinase
BTKi	Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitor
CLL	chronic lymphocytic leukemia
CLL-IPI Index	chronic lymphocytic leukemia International Prognostic
DAT	direct antiglobulin test
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EIA	enzyme immunoassay
FMIA	fluorescent multiplexed bead-based immunoassay
GMC	geometric mean concentration
GMT	geometric mean titer
GMR	geometric mean ratio
IG	immunoglobulin
IGHV	immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region
IPD	invasive pneumococcal disease
iwCLL	International Workshop on CLL
LLOQ	lower limit of quantification
MBL	monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis
M-CLL	mutated CLL

MHC	major histocompatibility complex
MIA	multiplexed immunoassay
MOPA	multiplexed opsonophagocytic assay
NK	natural killer
OPA	opsonophagocytic assay
РВМС	peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PCV13	pneumococcal conjugate vaccine 13
PPSV23	pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine 23
R/R	relapsed/refractory
SARS-CoV-2	severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
SP	serological protection
SR	serological response
Tfh	T follicular helper
Th	T helper
Treg	T regulatory
U-CLL	unmutated CLL

## Introduction

## **Chronic lymphocytic leukemia**

## **CLL** biology

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is a malignant B-lymphocyte disorder. With an incidence of 4-5 per 100,000, it is the most common leukemia in the Western world, typically diagnosed at a median age of 70 years and nearly twice as common in males (1). Most cases are asymptomatic and diagnosed as a result of lymphadenopathy or incidental finding of lymphocytosis. Due to defective apoptosis, driven by active B-cell receptors (BCRs) and complex interactions with the microenvironment that provide continuous stimulation and activation, malignant B cells accumulate in the bone marrow, lymph nodes, and spleen (2, 3). CLL B-cells are seen as increased lymphocyte counts in peripheral blood, which can be the only presentation at diagnosis. Morphological features associated with CLL are Gumprechts nuclear shadow (smudge cells) seen in peripheral blood smears (Figure 1). According to the 2018 International Workshop on CLL (iwCLL) (4), the diagnosis requires at least  $5 \times 10^9$  monoclonal Bcells/L in peripheral blood, sustained for at least 3 months, with typical phenotype detected through flow cytometry. CLL cells express the B-cell marker CD19, usually with weaker expression of CD20. CD5, CD23,  $\kappa$  and  $\lambda$  are also needed to establish the diagnosis (5). Smaller clonal B-cell populations ( $<5 \times 10^9$ ), without signs of lymphoproliferative disorders, are defined as monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis (MBL). This can be categorized as either low-count or high-count MBL, based on whether the B-cell count is above or below  $0.5 \times 10^9$ /L, with greater risk of progression to CLL if the count is high (6, 7).



Figure 1. Morphological features of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). Left: Blood smear showing characteristic smudge cells. Right: Histological section of a lymph node involved by CLL, displaying proliferation centers (pseudofollicles). Images by Dr. Graham Beards and Nephron. Licensed under CC BY-SA 3.0. Source: Wikimedia Commons.

Many individuals are diagnosed at an early asymptomatic stage, and only approximately 15% of patients require treatment at the time of diagnosis. Around two thirds develop a need for treatment at some point during the disease course (4, 8). The heterogenous clinical course is mainly a result of different genetic alterations in the CLL cells, which have significance for the prognosis. Staging of a CLL patient traditionally involves evaluating disease burden through physical examination and laboratory data, in accordance with the classifications suggested by Rai (9) or Binet (10). Independent factors influencing prognosis and treatment response include genetic aberrations such as TP53 status, del(17p), del(11q), trisomy 12, and del(13q), as well as immunoglobulin heavy chain gene (IGHV) mutation status, clinical stage (Rai or Binet), lymphocyte doubling time, serum beta-2 microglobulin levels >3.5 mg/L, and age (11-16). The IGHV mutation status reflects the developmental origin of B-cells, with mutated IGHV (M-CLL) indicating a population derived from more mature B-cells. Unmutated IGHV (U-CLL) is characterized by the absence of somatic hypermutation in the IGHV region genes, likely originating from naïve or marginal zone-like B-cells (17).

IGHV mutation status gives prognostic information early in the course of the disease. M-CLL occurs in 50–60% of newly diagnosed patients and is associated with more favorable prognosis than U-CLL, which has faster progression and shorter remissions after

chemoimmunotherapy (18, 19). Other genetic aberrations, like mutations in the genes for NOTCH1 and SF3B1, stereotyped BCR subsets and complex karyotype, are also independent prognostic factors (20-22), but less commonly used in clinical practice.

## **CLL treatment**

The iwCLL criteria for initiating treatment in CLL focus on identifying "active disease" (4). Treatment is recommended for patients with significant disease-related symptoms, i.e., progressive bone marrow failure, massive splenomegaly and lymphadenopathy, rapid increase of lymphocytosis, B symptoms, and refractory autoimmune complications. In the absence of these conditions, a "watch and wait" approach with regular monitoring is typically advised. One third of CLL patients never require treatment, and early-stage treatment with chemotherapy has not been shown to prolong survival (23). First-line treatment in CLL is selected based on various factors, including genetic abnormalities such as del(17p), del(11q) and TP53 mutations, as well as IGHV mutation status (U-CLL or M-CLL).

**Chemoimmunotherapy** has for many years been the backbone of CLL treatment, with fludarabine and cyclophosphamide used in younger, fit patients, and bendamustine preferred for elderly patients and those with comorbidities. These treatments are combined with CD20 antibodies. In recent years, so-called targeted therapies have increasingly been incorporated in CLL treatment (24). Targeted therapy, with or without CD20 antibodies, has now replaced chemoimmunotherapy for the majority of patients in Sweden (25). However, chemoimmunotherapy may still be a treatment option for patients with M-CLL who lack other high-risk features.

**CD20 antibodies**, such as rituximab and obinutuzumab, are essential in CLL treatment. They act by targeting B-cells for immune-mediated destruction. Rituximab, a first-generation CD20 antibody, is widely used with chemotherapy (for instance with fludarabine and cyclophosphamide or with bendamustine) and targeted therapies. Obinutuzumab, a second-generation, glycoengineered CD20 antibody, offers enhanced efficacy through stronger antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity and direct induction of apoptosis (26). It is frequently combined with targeted therapies in the frontline setting, providing a fixed-duration treatment that often achieves deep remissions (27).

Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitors (BTKis) are targeted therapies for CLL and other B-cell malignancies. By inhibiting Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK), a key enzyme in B-cell receptor signaling, they disrupt malignant B-cell survival, proliferation and migration, inducing apoptosis. BTKis have become an established treatment option in both frontline and relapse treatment, particularly for high-risk genetic profiles, due to superior progression-free survival. In patients with del(17p) or TP53 mutations, continuous BTKi therapy is preferred for its deep and durable responses (28). However, off-target inhibition of other kinases may be a problem, especially with first-generation BTKi such as ibrutinib, as these off-target interactions are associated with adverse effects. Second-generation inhibitors such as acalabrutinib and zanubrutinib, which more selectively target BTK, have fewer offtarget effects and consequently improved tolerability (29). New noncovalently binding BTKis will soon be used in clinical practice, changing the treatment landscape further.

**B-cell lymphoma 2 inhibitors (BCL2is)** are a class of targeted therapies, with venetoclax being widely used in clinical practice. These inhibitors target the B-cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2) protein, which is over-expressed in CLL cells and plays a key role in preventing apoptosis. By inhibiting BCL-2, these drugs restore the apoptotic process, leading to the selective death of CLL cells (30). Venetoclax is often used in combination with anti-CD20 antibodies, providing a fixed-duration treatment approach (27). This time-limited therapy allows patients to achieve long-term remission without continuous treatment, reducing the risk of cumulative toxicity.

**PI3K delta inhibitors** are a class of targeted therapies that block the phosphoinositide 3-kinase delta (PI3K $\delta$ ) isoform, which plays a crucial role in BCR signaling. Although approved for clinical use, they are rarely given due to high risk of immune-related toxicities and increased susceptibility to infections.

## Overview of the immune system

The immune defense against infection can be divided into innate immunity and adaptive immunity. Innate immunity provides an immediate, non-specific response to foreign pathogens or tissue damage. Adaptive immunity, in contrast, develops over time and generates immune memory, allowing for a more targeted and long-lasting response. Both immune systems rely on specialized cells and molecules to recognize and neutralize antigens when needed.

### **Innate immunity**

The innate immune system, present from birth, provides an immediate, non-specific defense against infections through inflammation, phagocytosis and complement activation. It recognizes microbial structures, known as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), as well as danger signals from injured tissue (DAMPs) (31). Recognition occurs via pattern recognition receptors, including tolllike receptors, which activate signaling pathways leading to cytokine production (e.g., IL-1, TNF, IL-6), triggering immune responses and recruiting adaptive immune cells (32).

Key immune cells in innate immunity include neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, mast cells, and natural killer (NK) cells. Macrophages and neutrophils play a central role in phagocytosis, engulfing pathogens and killing them using toxic enzymes and oxygen radicals. Opsonization, in which pathogens are coated with antibodies immunoglobulin G (IgG) or complement factors (C3b), enhances phagocytosis and allows recognition of encapsulated bacteria, like pneumococci, which otherwise evade immune detection (33).

The complement system is a cascade of plasma proteins that supports phagocytosis, immune cell recruitment, and direct microbial lysis. It is activated through three pathways: the classical pathway, triggered by antibody-bound antigens; the lectin-binding pathway, initiated by mannose-binding lectin (MBL) binding bacterial carbohydrates; and the alternative pathway, which amplifies the response through C3b deposition on microbial surfaces (32, 33). A key function of complement is the formation of the membrane attack complex (MAC),

which lyses gram-negative bacteria and inactivates viruses. Additionally, complement fragments (C3a, C5a) enhance inflammation by attracting immune cells and increasing vascular permeability.

Natural IgM antibodies are produced without prior antigen exposure and play a role in innate-like humoral immunity. They are primarily secreted by B-1 cells (a subset of B lymphocytes), which are located in the peritoneal and pleural cavities, as well as in the spleen and bone marrow (34). Unlike adaptive IgM, which is produced after antigen exposure, natural IgM is poly-reactive, binding to conserved microbial structures. It plays a role in clearing dying cells, regulating inflammation, and activating the classical complement pathway.

Encapsulated bacteria such as *S. pneumoniae* evade immune detection by inhibiting phagocytosis. In these cases, opsonization with antibodies and complement factors is essential for effective immune clearance. Patients with antibody or complement deficiencies are at increased risk for severe pneumococcal infections, highlighting the importance of vaccination strategies targeting pneumococcal immunity.

### **Adaptive immunity**

The adaptive immune system, unlike innate immunity, develops over time and provides specific and long-lasting protection through T and B lymphocytes. These cells possess unique antigen receptors that enable them to recognize and respond to pathogens with high specificity. A key feature of adaptive immunity is immune memory, where a portion of activated lymphocytes become memory cells, allowing for a faster and stronger response upon re-exposure to the same antigen.

T cells mature in the thymus and are activated when antigens are presented by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules. CD4+ T helper (Th) cells coordinate immune responses by releasing cytokines, activating macrophages, B cells, and cytotoxic CD8+ T cells. CD8+ cytotoxic T cells kill virus-infected and malignant cells by inducing apoptosis through perforins and granzymes. T-cell subsets such as Th1, Th2, and Th17 specialize in different immune responses, while regulatory T cells (Tregs) prevent excessive immune activation and autoimmunity (32).

B-cell activation occurs when the B-cell receptor (BCR) binds to its specific antigen. Membrane-bound immunoglobulins (BCRs) and soluble antibodies share the same basic Y-shaped structure, composed of two heavy chains and two light chains (Figure 2). The variable regions at the tips of the Y provide antigen specificity, while the constant region of the heavy chain determines the antibody class and its effector functions (35). BCRs possess a transmembrane domain that anchors them to the B-cell surface, whereas soluble antibodies are secreted and circulate freely in the bloodstream.



Figure 2. Basic structure of an immunoglobulin molecule, composed of two heavy chains and two light chains forming a Y-shaped configuration.

The BCR is associated with the signaling molecules  $Ig\alpha$  (CD79a) and  $Ig\beta$  (CD79b), which transduce activation signals upon antigen binding (32). Naïve B-cells primarily express IgM and IgD, but after class

switching, they can produce IgG (for opsonization and complement activation), IgA (for mucosal defense), or IgE (for allergic and antiparasitic responses). IgD regulates the BCR signaling and is involved in the transition from naïve to antigen-experienced B-cells (32). IgM is the first immunoglobulin produced in response to infection and is particularly important in defense against pneumococci as it enhances opsonization and complement activation (31).

In T-cell-dependent responses, an antigen presenting cell (APC), that has digested an antigen, is displaying an antigen fragment via MHC class II molecules which activates the T cell receptor (TCR). T cells secrete cytokines with further regulates the immune response. This interaction promotes B-cell proliferation, differentiation, and the germinal center reaction, a process for antibody maturation and memory formation (Figure 3)(36). The germinal center, located in secondary lymphoid organs (e.g., lymph nodes and spleen), consists of a dark zone where B-cells (centroblasts) undergo somatic hypermutation, introducing genetic changes to enhance antigen affinity, and a light zone, where B-cells (now centrocytes) interact with follicular dendritic cells. Only those with high-affinity BCRs survive, while loweraffinity clones undergo apoptosis. This ensures the selection of highly effective antibody-producing B-cells. In the germinal center, classswitch recombination allows B-cells to switch antibody classes while maintaining antigen specificity. This process is regulated by cytokines from Tfh cells (37). In contrast, T-cell-independent responses occur when repetitive antigens, such as bacterial polysaccharides, directly activate B-cells, leading to rapid IgM production but no memory formation.

Many B-cells enter the germinal center reaction, and some differentiate into plasmablasts, which serve as an early source of antibodies but have a short lifespan (Figure 3). Plasmablasts are short-lived, rapidly proliferating cells that secrete antibodies without undergoing extensive affinity maturation (38). They arise quickly after antigen exposure and produce IgM or, in some cases, IgG. Plasma cells, in contrast, are terminally differentiated B-cells. They arise from the germinal center reaction but migrate to the bone marrow and secrete high-affinity antibodies continuously, contributing to long-term immunity.



Nature Reviews | Immunology

Figure 3. Dynamics of B cells in the germinal center reaction. Reproduced from De Silva et al., Nature Reviews Immunology, open access under a Creative Commons license (36).

## Immune dysfunction in CLL

Most CLL patients are asymptomatic at diagnosis, but some present with recurrent infections already early in the disease course. All CLL patients are considered to have some degree of immunodeficiency. The immune dysfunction includes both the effect of the leukemic cells on the immune system, leading to humoral and cellular dysfunction, and the impact of CLL-specific treatment.

#### **Disease-related immune dysfunction**

Immune dysfunction is seen from the early stages of the disease and usually worsens with disease progression (39-42). Patients with MBL already exhibit immune defects and infectious complications are common (6, 43-46). This state of secondary immunodeficiency caused by the lymphoproliferative disease involves both qualitative and quantitative defects of the adaptive and innate immune system, which result in abnormal cellular and humoral-mediated responses (Figure 4).

The CLL tumor microenvironment refers to the dynamic and complex network of immune cells, stromal elements, signaling molecules and extracellular matrix components that surround CLL cells. This microenvironment promotes leukemic cell survival and proliferation while simultaneously impairing both innate and adaptive immune responses (47). For example, interactions between CLL cells and nurselike cells or Tregs promote the secretion of IL-10 and other immunosuppressive cytokines, leading to both immunosuppression and tumor proliferation (48).

Hypogammaglobulinemia is observed in approximately 25% of newly diagnosed CLL patients and typically worsens over time, ultimately affecting up to 85% of all CLL patients (49-51). Lower immunoglobulin levels correlate with an increased risk of infections, with IgG subclasses, particularly IgG3 and IgG4, being the most affected (52). This likely contributes to increased susceptibility to bacterial infections, as these subclasses play a key role in opsonization and complement activation. Hypogammaglobulinemia reflects decreased survival and function of plasma cells and is also a consequence of the reduced number of normal, non-CLL B-cells, along with dysregulation of both

regulatory T- and B-cells. Additionally, an inadequate B-cell response to interleukin 2 (IL-2) impairs differentiation and antibody production, further compromising immune function (41, 47).

Alterations in the innate immune system, seen in most patients at diagnosis, cause defects in neutrophils and NK cells and impaired complement system with reduced levels of complement proteins (40). The complement system is primarily a first-line defense mechanism within innate immunity and almost 40% of CLL patients present with decreased levels of some complement proteins and activity, in particular C3b, which has an impact on protection against bacterial infections (40). Additionally, defects in activation, binding, and expression of cell surface complement receptors 1 and 2 is seen, which affects immune regulation, complement system activation, and particularly B-cell responses and clearance of immune complexes (40, 47). Monocytes and NK cells seem to be increased in number in CLL but usually have several functional defects, e.g. in cytotoxic activity (53). Dendritic cells have impaired maturation with reduced ability for IL-12 release, leading to ineffective T-cell stimulation and response (54). Neutrophils show impaired bactericidal activity and reduced C5A-induced chemotaxis (55).

T-cells in CLL show defects in activation, proliferation, and cytotoxic function (56-58). In early disease stages, T-cell numbers are often elevated but the cells are functionally impaired. As the disease progresses, T-cells accumulate further and exhibit increasing signs of exhaustion. CLL cells actively drive this immune dysfunction through the expression of cytotoxic surface molecules and extracellular mediators, which suppress T-cell proliferation and function. Upregulation of inhibitory receptors, such as PD-1, CTLA-4, TIM-3 and LAG-3, contributes to impaired cytotoxicity and diminished T-cell activation (39, 47, 51, 59). Additionally, T-cells in CLL patients have defective immunological synapse formation, failing to form proper immune synapses with APCs. T-cell subpopulation imbalances are also observed, including an altered CD4+/CD8+ ratio, with an increased proportion of circulating CD8+ cells (with reduced cytotoxic capacity) (58). CLL cells also exert direct inhibitory effects on CD4+ Th, further contributing to immune dysfunction.

Tregs are elevated in CLL and exert immunosuppressive effects on CD4+, CD8+, and NK cells. Studies suggest that CLL progression is associated with Treg expansion and Th17 downregulation, whereas increased Th17 cell numbers in peripheral blood correlate with a more favorable prognosis (60-64), highlighting the relevance of these subpopulations. Furthermore, the Treg/Th17 imbalance has been implicated in the development of autoimmune cytopenia and is suggested as a potential prognostic marker in CLL (60).



Figure 4. Disease-related immune dysfunction in chronic lymphocytic leukemia.

## **Treatment-related immune dysfunction**

The immunosuppressive effects of various treatment modalities such as chemotherapy or new targeted therapies, with or without CD20 antibodies, can further increase infectious complications (51, 65). However, a partial restoration of immune function is also observed during or after treatment, as a consequence of reduced tumor burden.

Chemotherapy with alkylating agents (mainly cyclophosphamide, bendamustine or chlorambucil) are associated with myelosuppression and an increased risk of bacterial infections. Purine analogs (fludarabin) interfere with DNA synthesis, leading to a depletion of CD4+ Tcells and decreasing B-cells and monocytes, also increasing the risk of opportunistic infections with viral and mycotic agents (66).

When CD20 antibodies were introduced as a standard of therapy, a significant survival benefit for CLL patients was seen in combination with chemotherapy (67). However, anti-CD20 antibodies bind to CD20 on B-cells, inducing apoptosis and prolonged B-cell depletion, which can persist for up to 24 months and contribute to long-lasting immunosuppression (68). Also, obinutuzumab has been shown to induce depletion of NK cells and reduction of both CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells (69).

BTK is crucial for BCR signaling, supporting malignant B-cell survival. Although BTKis effectively disrupt tumor growth, they also impair normal B-cell function and affect various hematopoietic cells, including macrophages, granulocytes, and mast cells. BTK is involved in multiple immune pathways, such as Toll-like receptor, chemokine receptor and Fc receptor signaling pathways, contributing to broader immune modulation (70). BTKis also exert off-target effects, particularly on IL-2–inducible T-cell kinase (ITK), which plays a key role in T-cell activation through T-cell receptor signaling. ITK inhibition weakens Th2 responses and reduces cytokine production, which is more pronounced with first-generation BTKi and may explain the higher risk of opportunistic infections seen (71). Second-generation BTKis are more selective and exhibit reduced ITK inhibition (72). Both first- and second-generation BTKis impair monocyte and macrophage function, reducing phagocytosis and inflammatory cytokine

secretion, which also contributes to susceptibility to invasive fungal infections (73-75).

Despite these immunosuppressive effects, BTKis can also enhance Tcell function by increasing the T-cell repertoire diversity and reconstitution, which is mainly seen after long-term treatment (76-78). When CLL cells are depleted, their immunosuppressive effects on other immune cells decrease, potentially restoring the immune balance. Research has also shown that BTKis can reduce T-cell exhaustion, improve activation, repair immune synapse formation, and shift the immune profile toward a Th1 response, enhancing anti-tumor immunity (72, 77, 79). During treatment, T-cell counts initially rise, possibly due to treatment-induced lymphocytosis, but then gradually decline (76).

Early reports on the immunomodulatory effects of first-generation BTKis suggested an initial increase in immunoglobulin levels in patients treated with ibrutinib, though a decline was observed over time (72, 80). Also, the absolute number of non-CLL B-cells remained low during BTKi treatment as compared with in healthy individuals. These negative effects of BTKis on normal B cell function may also contribute to a weaker vaccine response.

The BCL2i venetoclax is used as monotherapy or in combination with CD20 antibodies. In CLL patients treated with venetoclax, 32– 58% were found to develop severe (common toxicity criteria grade 3– 4) neutropenia in a range of studies, especially early during treatment (81-83). The mechanism for venetoclax-induced neutropenia seems to be the increased BCL2 expression in neutrophil precursors, triggering apoptosis (83). The effects of venetoclax on non-leukemic cells in lymph nodes and peripheral blood have also been described, showing immune recovery after the elimination of leukemic cells (84).

Combination therapy with BCL2is and BTKis is emerging as a timelimited treatment option and analysis of immune cell subsets from treatment studies shows restoration of immune function, as observed after single-agent BTKi, but with faster kinetics (85, 86).

## Infectious complications in CLL

Due to the previously described immunodeficiencies, CLL patients have increased susceptibility to bacterial, viral, and fungal infections and remain a major cause of morbidity and mortality in this population.

## Infection risk, types of infection and prevention

It is estimated that around 80% of CLL patients encounter infections during the disease course (65, 87) and that the mortality rate due to infections ranges from 30–60% (88, 89). Although the risk of infection increases with disease progression and CLL-specific treatment, one study demonstrated that infections are common even before therapy is initiated, with 31% of patients experiencing at least one infection prior to treatment (90). Risk factors of infectious episode included older age, male sex, advanced disease stage (Binet), elevated  $\beta$ 2microglobulin, and unmutated IGHV. Immunoglobulin deficiencies, particularly low IgA levels, were strongly linked to infection risk. Additionally, CLL patients who experience infections seem to have lower overall survival (91, 92). Interestingly, increased risk of infections is already seen in MBL patients (93).

Bacterial infections originating from skin or mucosal surfaces are a major cause of infections in CLL. Respiratory tract infections caused by *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (pneumococci) are frequent, while other common pathogens include *Staphylococcus aureus, Haemophilus influenzae, Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae*, and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (87, 94, 95). An increased risk of invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) has been reported, with a 29- to 36-fold higher incidence compared to the general population (96-100).

Viral infections, including influenza, herpes simplex virus, varicellazoster virus and cytomegalovirus, are also prevalent, especially in relapsed/refractory (R/R) CLL. Opportunistic infections, including fungal infections, are also a concern in RR/ CLL and prophylactic therapy varies depending on treatment regimen and additional risk factors (101). Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic underscored that CLL patients were a particularly high-risk group for developing severe disease with increased mortality (66, 102, 103).

The increased infection risk is multifactorial and, as mentioned previously, relates to immune dysregulation due to advanced-stage disease or treatment, but also to age and comorbidities (40, 65, 87, 104, 105). Fludarabine based regimen with their strong T-cell suppressive effect increases the risk for opportunistic infections (106). Infections do however still remain a concern in patients with CLL receiving targeted agents (65, 107-109). For patients receiving first-line therapy with BTKis, infection rates range between 11.4% and 27.4%, coming close to 30% in relapsed/refractory patients. A slightly increased rate of invasive fungal infections (but still <3%) during BTKi treatment has been reported (71, 73, 74). Fixed-duration venetoclax-based treatments show variable rates, with maximum values around 20% (107).

Preventive measures, such as immunoglobulin replacement and vaccination, can reduce the risk of infections in patients with hematological malignancies, but prophylactic antibiotics do not (110). Preventive measures vary across guidelines depending on population and treatment regimen (101). High-quality studies on CLL patients regarding immunoglobulin replacement are lacking. CLL patients exhibit a reduced response to most studied vaccines, with the impairment becoming more pronounced in advanced disease stages, during active treatment, or within 6-12 months following CD20 antibody therapy (68, 111-115). Immunoglobulin replacement therapy may be considered in patients with low IgG levels in combination with severe bacterial infections, recurrent antibiotic-requiring respiratory infections or poor resolution despite adequate antibiotic treatment (116). Reduced immunoglobulin levels are commonly observed following CD20 antibody therapy, and in such cases, substitution may also be considered if the deficiency is deemed clinically significant (117). However, no preventive measures seem to reduce all-cause mortality (110).

### **Pneumococcal infections**

There are over 100 serotypes of S. pneumoniae, but only a few frequently cause IPD. The distribution of the serotypes varies by age group, geographic region, and vaccination status (118). Still, pneumococcal disease is the leading source of infection-caused mortality in the world (119). The cell walls of pneumococci contain a thick peptidoglycan layer (characteristic of Gram-positive bacteria), teichoic acids, cell wall polysaccharides and surface proteins, all of which contribute to bacterial structure, immune modulation and virulence. In addition, pneumococci are surrounded by a polysaccharide capsule, considered their major virulence factor, which protects the bacteria from phagocytosis and enhances their ability to evade host immune responses (120). Surface-associated virulence factors such as pneumolysin also contribute to tissue damage and inflammation. The serotypes are numbered and grouped based on similarities in polysaccharide structures (121). Normally, pneumococci are opsonized by antibodies and complement, facilitating phagocytosis and removal by splenic macrophages (33). Patients with impaired splenic function are therefore particularly vulnerable to pneumococcal infections, as the spleen plays a crucial role in clearing S. pneumoniae from the bloodstream.

Historically, before the introduction of routine pneumococcal vaccination (in the pre-pneumococcal conjugate vaccine era), the most dominant serotypes causing IPD were 1, 3, 4, 6B, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, and 23F. These serotypes were specifically targeted by the first 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV7), which significantly reduced their prevalence (118). With the introduction of PCV13, the incidence of vaccine-covered serotypes declined; however, non-vaccine serotypes began to emerge, a process called serotype replacement. Despite PCV13 coverage, serotypes 1, 3, 7F, and 19A remained significant contributors to IPD. In a retrospective study, non-PCV13 serotypes caused the majority of IPD cases in Southwest Sweden in patients with predisposing factors. However, serotype 3, included in PCV13, was prevalent and often caused severe disease (122). Newly emerging serotypes post-PCV13, including 10A, 15A, 22F, 23B, and 33F, are becoming more prevalent. To address these shifts in serotype distribution, PCV15 and PCV20 were developed, incorporating additional serotypes such as 8, 10A, 11A, 15B, 22F, and 33F to provide broader protection in response to evolving epidemiological trends (123).

In Sweden, the incidence of IPD was 13.7/100,000 in 2023, with an increased risk in those aged above 65 years. Of all typed isolates from 2023, only 2.6 percent belonged to serotypes included in PCV10, compared with 57 percent in 2009 (124). In 2023, 54 percent of the typed isolates were serotypes covered by PCV15, 71 percent were covered by PCV20, and 74 percent by the 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPSV23).

### **Pneumococcal vaccines**

In an article published in The Lancet 1914, Wright et al. described the first studies on inoculation of humans using killed pneumococci, with substantial reduction in cases of pneumonia and deaths among miners in South Africa (125). In subsequent years, studies led to identification of capsular polysaccharides and an understanding of how different strains varied in disease and immunogenicity (126). Two types of vaccines are today used for immunization against pneumococcal infections: conjugate and polysaccharide vaccines. The capsular polysaccharides included in them are selected based on their prevalence in IPD. New vaccine-strategies are also being explored such as protein-based vaccines (targeting pneumococcal proteins and thereby able to induce immune response to all serotypes) and whole-cell pneumococcal vaccines (123). The Multiple Antigen-Presenting System is a technology combining polysaccharides with protein-based vaccines. For instance, a 24-valent ASP3772 pneumococcal conjugate candidate vaccine is being tested in phase I studies (127).

### Pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine, PPSV

A polysaccharide vaccine covering 23 serotypes was introduced in 1983. PPSV23, still marketed and used today, contains purified polysaccharides from serotypes 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 8, 9N, 9V, 10A, 11A, 12F, 14, 15B, 17F, 18C, 19A, 19F, 20, 22F, 23F, and 33F and is administered as an intramuscular injection. The polysaccharides induce a B- cell-dependent (and T-cell-independent) immune reaction, first stimulating the release of IgM (Figure 3) (128). It induces only serotype-specific antibodies and no memory cells, which leads to limited duration of vaccine-induced immune response. Polysaccharide vaccines are not recommended in children under 2 years of age due to their immature immune systems with decreased ability to respond to B-cell stimulus. Studies have also shown decreased response in the elderly and a need for revaccination after approximately 5 years (129). The studies on PPSV show effects against IPD, but there are no studies confirming decreased risk of non-invasive disease. In Sweden, PPSV23 is recommended for adults  $\geq 65$  years without other risk factors for severe pneumococcal disease. Revaccination with PPSV23 is recommended after 5 years (130). Single-dose use of PPSV23 is no longer part of primary immunization in the Center for Disease Control guidelines (131).

### Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine, PCV

Pneumococcal conjugate vaccines (PCVs) include a protein, CRM197 (a non-toxic variant of diphtheria toxin), conjugated to pneumococcal capsular polysaccharides. This induces a T-cell-dependent immunological memory that elicits an improved response in groups with less effective adaptive immune responses (128). For many years, PCV containing 13 serotypes (PCV13) has been used, and this vaccine was also used in the studies included in this thesis. It covers serotypes 1, 3, 4, 5, 6A, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19A, 19F, and 23F.

After vaccination, APCs internalize the conjugate vaccine, process the protein carrier, and present it on MHC class II molecules to Th cells. This induces cytokine secretion (IL-2, IL-4, IL-21) promoting B-cell activation and differentiation (128). This interaction drives class switching and affinity maturation, leading to the production of high-affinity IgG antibodies. Memory B-cells are generated, providing long-term immune protection, allowing a rapid antibody response upon subsequent exposure (Figure 3, 5).

PCVs were first approved for infants and are globally recommended as a routine childhood immunization. PCV also induces a mucosal immunity thought to inhibit carriage of serotypes in vaccinated children, leading to herd protection in the unvaccinated and elderly (128, 132). PCV13 was approved for adult use in 2011 and was incorporated into vaccine recommendations for high-risk groups in Sweden in 2016. However, PCV20 has now replaced PCV13 in most current guidelines.



Figure 5. Immune response to pneumococcal polysaccharide and conjugate vaccines. Reproduced from Pollard et al., Nature Reviews Immunology (2021), open access under a Creative Commons license (128).

### Aspects on revaccination with pneumococcal vaccines

Revaccination with pneumococcal vaccines is an area of debate. It is suggested that revaccination with PPSV23 within 5-10 years after primary immunization enhances protection in risk groups (131). But hyporesponsiveness, i.e., a weakened or diminished immune response to subsequent doses of a vaccine after an initial priming dose, is an area of concern. Hyporesponsiveness can occur after repeated administration of pneumococcal vaccines, especially if PPSV23 is given multiple times over a short time or administered before PCV (133). The exact mechanisms remain unclear but repeated exposure to antigenic stimulation may deplete the memory B-cell pool by driving pre-existing memory B-cells toward terminal differentiation into antibody-secreting cells, leading to attenuated responses upon re-exposure to the same antigen (133, 134). The clinical implications of hyporeponsivness are unknown, however, some research suggests that revaccination strategies may carry a risk, although this risk appears to be lower with the use of PCV (134, 135).

Revaccination with a conjugate vaccine in healthy elderly adults has been proven to be efficient and safe (136). Repeated doses of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines as part of primary immunization is recommended for infants (137) and has also been shown to improve protection in patients with hematological malignancies after allogenic stem cell transplantation, where it is a recommended strategy (138-140). No studies on repeated vaccinations with pneumococcal conjugate vaccines in CLL patients, either as part of primary immunization or as periodic booster vaccinations, have been conducted.

#### Assessment of antibody response to pneumococcal antigens

#### **Enzyme immunoassays**

Enzyme immunoassay (EIA), also known as enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), is a commonly used method for measuring serotype-specific IgG antibody responses following pneumococcal vaccination and is standardized and well-validated (141, 142). It is the primary method recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO) to evaluate immune response to pneumococcal vaccination (143). The assay quantifies antibodies directed against the capsular polysaccharides of *S. pneumoniae*.

The process begins with microtiter plates coated with purified pneumococcal polysaccharides representing various serotypes, ensuring that only specific antibodies bind. When measuring pneumococcal antibodies by EIA, cross-reactivity can lead to overestimation of serotype-specific responses due to non-specific antibodies binding to similar structures or cell wall polysaccharides. To improve specificity, serotype 22F polysaccharide is used as an adsorbent to remove these cross-reactive antibodies before analysis, ensuring that only truly serotype-specific antibodies are measured. After addition of patient serum, serotype-specific antibodies attach to the antigens and multiple washing steps remove unbound components. An enzyme-labeled secondary antibody is then added, to bind human IgG. Subsequent addition of a substrate solution triggers a colorimetric reaction, with the color intensity correlating with the antibody concentration (Figure 6). The results are quantified by measuring the optical density (expressed in µg/mL using a spectrophotometer, calibrated against WHO reference standards (144)). However, EIA is impractical for evaluations in vaccine studies since a separate assay needs to be performed for each serotype.



Figure 6. Principle of enzyme immunoassay.

#### **Multiplex immunoassays**

Multiplex immunoassay (MIA), also known as fluorescent multiplexed bead-based immunoassay (FMIA), is an advanced laboratory technique that enables the simultaneous quantification of antibodies against multiple pneumococcal serotypes. This makes it more efficient and better suited for large-scale data analysis and it is increasingly being implemented in vaccine studies (145). The principle of MIA involves coupling polysaccharides from different pneumococcal serotypes to uniquely fluorescent microspheres (beads). When patient serum is added, serotype-specific IgG antibodies bind to their corresponding bead-bound antigens. A fluorescent-labeled secondary antibody targeting human IgG is then introduced. The results are read using a flow-based detection system, where lasers detect the specific bead fluorescence and quantify bound antibodies based on the intensity of the fluorescent signal. The results are typically expressed in micrograms per milliliter ( $\mu$ g/mL) using calibration curves standardized

against WHO reference serum with assigned antibody concentrations for specific pneumococcal serotypes (144, 146, 147).

One of the key advantages of MIA is the ability to measure IgG responses to 23 or more pneumococcal serotypes simultaneously, which is useful when evaluating responses after pneumococcal vaccination. Further, MIA requires smaller sample volumes than EIA and is increasingly used in laboratories due to being less laborious and more flexible. However, the method is not standardized, although evaluations of cross-laboratory results in Europe indicate high correlation (146).

### **Opsonophagocytic assay**

Opsonophagocytic assay (OPA) and multiplexed opsonophagocytic assay (MOPA) are functional assays used to measure the ability of antibodies to mediate bacterial clearance following pneumococcal vaccination (148). These analyses complement the measurement of IgG concentrations, as antibody titers not always correlate with functional activity or protection against pneumococcal infections.

Both assay types assess the functional capacity of antibodies by evaluating their ability to promote opsonization and phagocytosis, key processes in the defense against *S. pneumoniae* (148). MOPA, unlike OPA, allows for simultaneous measurement of functional antibody responses against multiple pneumococcal serotypes in a single assay. Patient serum is incubated with live pneumococcal bacteria, complement, and phagocytic cells. If functional antibodies are present, they will opsonize the bacteria, marking them for ingestion and destruction by phagocytes.

The assay measures bacterial killing by determining the reduction in viable bacterial colonies compared with in control samples. The OPA/MOPA titer is defined as the highest serum dilution that still achieves 50% bacterial killing compared to a control without serum (149). Higher titers indicate a greater presence of functional antibodies in the serum. Titers are expressed as the reciprocal of the serum dilution, meaning that a titer of 1:64 indicated that the serum can be diluted 64 times while still maintaining 50% bacterial killing. The

lowest detectable titer is typically 1:8, and if no effect is observed at this dilution, the sample is considered negative (149). MOPA results can be presented as the geometric means of titers (GMTs), as percentage of subjects with detectable titers, as EIA:OPA ratio (e.g.,  $\mu$ g/mL antibody needed for 50% killing) or as correlations between MOPA titers and antibody concentrations.

In MOPA, a mixture of pneumococcal strains, each carrying a unique antibiotic resistance marker, is used. After incubation, the remaining live bacteria are grown on selective media containing antibiotics, allowing to determine which bacterial serotypes were effectively killed by the antibodies. The use of antibiotic resistance markers enables precise identification and quantification of the immune response to each pneumococcal serotype.

These assays require specialized laboratory expertise due to their complexity and are costly and time consuming. Interlaboratory comparison has shown acceptable agreement (150, 151). The assay provides essential data on the effectiveness of antibodies in mediating protection, a complement to analyzing IgG concentrations where the titers do not always correspond to the functionality of the antibodies and the protection against pneumococcal infections.

## **Cut-offs and correlate of protection**

Although cut-off levels for serological protection (SP) and serological response (SR) are commonly applied in pneumococcal studies, they should not be interpreted as definitive protective thresholds or as indicators of adequate vaccine response at the individual level. The definitions vary between studies and serve only as surrogate markers of protection. They are influenced by factors such as the study population, vaccine type, and the specific objectives of the measurement, whether to assess response to vaccines or to evaluate overall immune competence.

SP, typically used in clinical vaccine studies, is commonly defined as the proportion of patients achieving serotype-specific IgG concentrations  $\geq 0.35 \ \mu\text{g/mL}$  in 50-70% of the measured serotypes, indicating an antibody level considered sufficient to provide clinical protection against invasive disease. However, the 0.35 µg/mL threshold, established by the WHO more than 20 years ago from pooled data of three PCV7 trials in children under 2 years, correlates with population-level protection against IPD in children (143, 152). It does not account for mucosal immunity or non-invasive pneumococcal diseases such as pneumonia and otitis media (153). Also, standard cut-off levels have not been validated as protective in adults or immunocompromised individuals, for whom higher thresholds, such as 1.0 µg/mL or 1.3 µg/mL, have been proposed (154). Protective levels are also defined by the proportion of tested serotypes, typically 50–70%, that exceed antibody concentrations of 0.35 µg/mL or 1.3 µg/mL, although the number of serotypes assessed varies between studies. For children under 6 years, 50% is considered sufficient, while 70% or more is recommended for older children and adults.

Alternative cut-off values aimed at more accurately defining immune protection have been proposed, though they require further validation (155, 156). Serotype-specific thresholds, rather than a single uniform cut-off value, have been suggested to allow more accurate predictions of protective antibody levels. However, the relationship between IgG concentrations following short and long-term protection remains poorly understood and requires further investigation.

Serological response (SR) following pneumococcal vaccination is typically defined as a  $\geq$ 2-fold or  $\geq$ 4-fold increase in IgG levels for 50-70% of the measured serotypes compared to pre-vaccination levels and refers to the change in antibody concentration in response to vaccination. Using a 4-fold increase has been suggested in adults and immunocompromised patients (154), but use of a 2-fold increase is more commonly seen in vaccine studies.

Using geometric mean concentrations (GMCs) and geometric mean ratios (GMRs) to evaluate pre- and post-vaccination titers for each serotype is also a widely used method for assessing immune response. The WHO recommends analyzing vaccine efficacy approximately 4 weeks post-immunization (143). Some studies extend this to 4–8 weeks.

There are limited data on standardized cut-off levels for OPA titers and their correlation with protective antibody levels, though some data suggest that an IgG concentration of  $\geq 0.2 \ \mu g/mL$  corresponds to an OPA titer of  $\geq 1:8$  for certain serotypes (148). A titer of 1:64 has been suggested as a threshold for adults but is based on limited data (149). Studies have also shown that some serotypes may have a strong OPA response even at lower IgG levels, whereas others may require higher IgG concentrations to achieve effective opsonization. IgM, also being part of opsonophagocytic activity may play a role in discrepancies between IgG levels and OPA activity (149).

Newer assays, such as MIA, are emerging, potentially requiring bridging studies to align with the WHO's EIA reference method (145). Inter-laboratory variability must also be considered and cut-off levels might need to be adjusted for individual serotypes to ensure accurate evaluation of vaccine response (146, 157, 158). The influence of methodological differences and interlaboratory variability on the interpretation of results in relation to predefined response criteria has been previously emphasized, along with the risk that these factors may affect the evaluation of vaccine responses in clinical studies (158, 159).

Defining optimal serological thresholds that approximate protective cut-offs in clinical vaccine studies remains challenging, largely due to the difficulty of conducting trials with clinical endpoints. Variation in serotype-specific immunogenicity, differences in measurement methods and the limited number of studies in certain populations highlight the need for ongoing efforts to establish consensus in defining vaccine responses.

## **Pneumococcal vaccination in CLL**

## Vaccination recommendations

High-risk groups are defined as patient populations at higher risk of developing severe illness or complications from *S. pneumoniae* infection. Guidelines in Sweden and in the Western world have for many years recommended both PCV13 and PPSV23 to high-risk groups, including patients with hematological malignancies (130, 160, 161). These recommendations, with PCV13 followed by PPSV23, are based
on the theory of a so-called prime-boost strategy in vaccine-naïve individuals, to enhance an already activated immune system with PPSV23 and broaden the protection against additional serotypes (162). Recently, PCVs with additional serotypes has been introduced (PCV15, PCV20). Vaccination recommendations have now largely shifted to single-dose PCV20, decreasing the need to add additional serotype protection with PPSV23 (25, 130, 163, 164). In CLL patients, pneumococcal vaccination is recommended as early as possible after diagnosis, partly based on results of Study I in this thesis (25, 115, 164). There are no current recommendations on revaccination with pneumococcal conjugate vaccines in CLL patients but revaccination after 5 years with PPSV23 may be considered according to Swedish guidelines (25, 130).

## Current knowledge on antibody response to pneumococcal vaccination in CLL

The impaired immune response to pneumococcal vaccination in CLL patients was first described more than 20 years ago. Pneumococcal vaccine studies conducted in CLL patients, including type of vaccine and method for antibody detection, are summarized in Table 1. Vaccine-induced immunological response to PPSV23 is seen in less than 25% in previous studies (165-168). When pneumococcal conjugate vaccines became available, Sinisalo et al. showed that almost 40% achieved an immune response after PCV7 vaccination, with a superior response if vaccinated early in the disease course. However, the response was still impaired compared with in controls (169). In a follow-up study of the same cohort 5 years after PCV7 immunization, performed by Lindström et al., the median antibody concentrations had declined by 50-75%, depending on serotype. Still, more than half of the CLL patients showed remaining protective levels for 4/7 serotypes, suggesting that a conjugate vaccine can provide long-term immunity (170). However, revaccination with PPSV23 did not improve immunity further (171). Mauro et al. showed that treatment-naïve patients had a response rate of 36% after PCV13 vaccination, whereas patients previously treated with chemoimmunotherapy or with BTKis showed a very low (0-8%) immune response (172). The impaired response in BTKi treated patients confirm a previous report on lack of

response in 4 ibrutinib treated patients receiving PCV13 (173). Pasiarski et al. described early humoral response, evaluated as plasmablast increase, and SR after PCV13 vaccination in CLL patients and controls. SR was detected in 58.3% of CLL patients, which also correlated with plasmablast response (174). Haggenburg et al. evaluated the recommended sequential vaccination strategy, starting with PCV13 and adding PPSV23 after 8 weeks, and found no additional immunological benefit from PPSV23, confirming the findings previously reported by Lindström et al. (175). Overall, the responses presented were very low, with an overall SR of 10.5% (results highly influenced by treatment status and tumor burden). However, more stringent cut-off criteria were used compared with in the other studies and MIA was used for antibody detection. Two of the vaccine studies measuring antibody response in this thesis (Study I and Study III) have been included at the bottom of Table 1 for comparison with previous studies (167, 176).

Table 1. Summary of studies evaluating pneumococcal vaccine responses in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia, highlighting variability in methodology across studies.

Study	Vaccine	Nr. pa- tients	Nr. sero- types	Definition of protec- tion and response	Method	Effect
Hartkamp et al. 2001 (165)	PPSV23	25	3	*1	EIA	SP 22%
Sinisalo et al. 2001 (166)	PPSV23	31	6	*2	EIA	SR 0%
Safdar et al. 2008 (168)	PPSV23	32	6	*3	EIA	SR 10%
Sinisalo et al. 2007 (169)	PCV13	52	7	*4	EIA	SP 49-92% SR 20-47%
Lindström et al. 2018 (170)	PCV7 (5 y. follow-up)	24	7	*4	EIA	SP 29-71%
Lindström et al. 2019 (171)	PCV13/PPSV23 (5 y. between vaccinations)	20	9	*4	EIA	SR 10-15% SP 30-75%
Pasiarski et al. 2014 (174)	PCV13	24	23	*5	EIA	SR 58%
Mauro et al. 2021 (172)	PCV13	112	med. PC IgG	*6	EIA	SP 30% SR 8%
Hag- genburg et al 2023 (175)	PCV13/PPSV23 (8 weeks between vaccina- tions)	143	9	*7	MIA	SR 11% SP 11%
Svensson et al. 2018 (167)	PPSV23 vs PCV13	126	12	*8	EIA OPA	SR PPSV23 22% PCV13 40%

Kättström	A: PPSV23/PCV13/PCV13	74	12	*9	MIA	SR
et al. 2025	VS					A: 24%/30%
(176)	B: PCV13/PCV13/PPSV23					B: 12%/30%
						SP
						A:52%/56%
						B: 27%/49%

\*1 SP: if 2/3 serotypes reached 20% of serotype IgG concentration reference levels in hyperimmune plasma pool, \*2 GMT rise and SR: sum of serotype-specific antibody levels, changes pre- and post-immunization.\*3 SR: 2-fold >0.5 µg/mL \*4 SP: >0.35 µg/mL of serotype-specific IgG concentration, SR: 2-fold  $\ge 0.35 \mu$ g/mL \*5 SR: 2-fold increase \*6 SP:  $\ge$  40 mg/L median PC IgG levels, SR: 2-fold increase baseline PC-IgG concentration \*7 SR: 4-fold increase in  $\ge$ 70% of serotypes, SP  $\ge$ 1.3 µg/mL for  $\ge$ 70% of serotypes, \*8 SR: OPA geometric mean titers for every serotype and response defined as a post-vaccination OPA titer  $\ge$  LLOQ in  $\ge$ 8/12 serotypes. EIA GMCs for each serotype and change, as a geometric mean ratio, pre- and postvaccination. \*9 SP:  $\ge$  0.35µg/mL for  $\ge$ 70% of serotypes, 2-fold increase  $\ge$  0.35 µg/mL in  $\ge$ 70% of serotypes. GMC and GMR for each serotype.

## Aims of the thesis

#### General

The aims of this thesis were to compare immune responses after pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPSV23) versus pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV13), to evaluate antibody persistence and to explore whether revaccination with pneumococcal conjugate vaccines improves immunity in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia.

#### Aims of the individual studies

**Study I:** To compare the immune response, measured by OPA and ELISA, following vaccination with PPSV23 or PCV13 in treatment-naïve CLL patients.

**Study II:** To characterize the normal composition of the peripheral blood B-cell repertoire in CLL patients and to explore the dynamics of plasmablast response following revaccination with either repeated PCV13 or PCV13 followed by PPSV23.

**Study III:** To evaluate antibody persistence five years after primary immunization with PPSV23 or PCV13 and to assess the antibody response to revaccination with either repeated PCV13 or PCV13 followed by PPSV23.

**Study IV:** To investigate whether the choice of analytical method, MIA or EIA, for measuring serotype-specific IgG concentrations following pneumococcal vaccination influences the assessment of vaccine response in CLL patients.

## **Materials and Methods**

### Study I

A randomized, multi-center trial was conducted between 2013 and 2016, enrolling 128 untreated CLL patients from eight hematology clinics in Sweden (Figure 7). Patients were stratified based on Rai stage and serum IgG levels before being randomly assigned to receive either PPSV23 (Pneumovax®23) or PCV13 (Prevenar13®). Key exclusion criteria included planned initiation of CLL-specific treatment within 1 month, other malignancies, prior pneumococcal vaccination within the preceding 5 years, history of severe allergic reactions to vaccines, neutropenia (<0.5 × 10<sup>9</sup>/L), a positive direct antiglobulin test (DAT), ongoing infection or previously known hemolysis.

The primary objective of the study was to compare immune responses using OPA at 4 weeks post-vaccination. Secondary outcomes included the evaluation of serotype-specific IgG concentrations, measured by ELISA, at 4 weeks and 6 months, as well as OPA titers at 6 months to assess the durability of the immune response. Post-vaccination analyses were conducted for 12 pneumococcal serotypes (1, 3, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, 19A, and 23F), shared between PCV13 and PPSV23.

Validated OPA assays and ELISA were conducted at Pfizer's Vaccine Research Clinical Testing Laboratory in the United States according to previous published studies (177, 178). OPA titers were defined as the reciprocal serum dilution required to achieve 50% complementmediated bacterial killing. A lower limit of quantification (LLOQ) was defined for each serotype and results presented as GMTs. Serotype-specific IgG was measured using ELISA and GMCs was compared across serotypes. Additionally, the study compared the proportion of patients in each of the two vaccination groups who achieved a positive immune response, defined as a post-vaccination OPA titer  $\geq$ LLOQ in at least 8 of the 12 serotypes shared by PCV13 and PPSV23. The predefined LLOQ response criteria for each serotype were as follows: serotype 1, 1:18; serotype 3, 1:12; serotype 4, 1:21; serotype 5, 1:29; serotype 6A, 1:37; serotype 6B, 1:43; serotype 7F, 1:113; serotype

## 9V, 1:141; serotype 14, 1:35; serotype 18C, 1:31; serotype 19A, 1:18; serotype 19F, 1:48; and serotype 23F, 1:13.



Figure 7. Study design and study population in Study I.

#### **Study II**

This prospective study included CLL patients from the Hematology Unit at Örebro University Hospital, Sweden, who had previously received PCV13 or PPSV23 as part of a randomized vaccination trial (Study I) conducted between 2013 and 2016. Between October 2019 and February 2020, 14 CLL patients were enrolled in a revaccination study. Following informed consent, a physical examination was performed, followed by blood chemistry analysis, including measurements of total IgG, IgA, and IgM levels, as well as IgG subclasses. Main exclusion criteria included ongoing treatment with high-dose corticosteroids ( $\geq 20$  mg prednisolone) or other immunosuppressive drugs not part of active CLL therapy, history of allergic reactions to vaccines, positive DAT, current or previous autoimmune hemolytic anemia or immune thrombocytopenic purpura. Vaccination was temporarily postponed in cases of febrile illness, recent antibiotic therapy (within 72 hours), inactivated vaccine administration (within 14 days), or live vaccine administration (within 28 days). None of the patients had received pneumococcal revaccination since their primary immunization. The revaccination strategy was determined by prior immunization (Figure 8). CLL patients who had initially received PCV13 were given a single dose of PCV13, followed by PPSV23 after 8 weeks. Those who had originally received PPSV23 were revaccinated with two doses of PCV13, administered 8 weeks apart. A control group of immunocompetent individuals (n = 31) who had previously received PCV13 or PPSV23 as part of routine vaccination 3-6 years earlier was included. These individuals were revaccinated with a single dose of PCV13, without a second revaccination.



Figure 8. Revaccination strategy of CLL patients and controls.

The primary objective of the study was to investigate the early humoral response to pneumococcal revaccination in previously immunized CLL patients by assessing plasmablast proportions before and seven days after revaccination, using immunocompetent individuals as controls. A further objective was to characterize the baseline composition of the B-cell repertoire in peripheral blood among CLL patients and immunocompetent controls and to evaluate its dynamic changes following pneumococcal revaccination.

B cells were analyzed using flow cytometry following standard staining and sample preparation protocols. Data acquisition was performed on a Gallios Flow Cytometer, and analysis was conducted using Kaluza software (v2.1, Beckman Coulter). To assess B-cell subsets and the plasmablast response before and after revaccination, whole blood was collected in heparinized tubes. Flow cytometry was performed at baseline and 7 days post-revaccination to analyze B-cell populations. Total B cells were identified by gating on CD19<sup>+</sup>/CD45<sup>+</sup> cells, and the following subsets were characterized: naïve B cells (CD27<sup>-</sup>/IgD<sup>+</sup>), switched memory B cells (CD27<sup>+</sup>), non-switched memory B cells (CD27<sup>+</sup>/IgD<sup>+</sup>), double-negative memory B cells (CD27<sup>-</sup>/IgD<sup>-</sup>), and plasmablasts (CD38<sup>++</sup>/CD27<sup>++</sup>/IgD<sup>-</sup>/IgM<sup>+</sup>).

#### **Study III**

In this prospective study, 74 CLL patients previously enrolled in the randomized multicenter vaccination study (Study I), in which they had received either PCV13 or PPSV23, were recruited from eight hematology clinics in Sweden between October 2019 and February

2020. Additionally, 31 immunocompetent controls who had received PCV13 or PPSV23 between 2013 and 2017 were included. Participants were included at a median of 5 years after their primary immunization and were stratified into two revaccination groups based on their initial vaccination with either PCV13 or PPSV23 (Figure 9).

The primary outcomes of the study were to evaluate the proportion of CLL patients reaching the criteria of SP five years after primary immunization with PCV13 or PPSV23, as well as SR at eight weeks following PCV13 revaccination. Secondary outcomes included assessing the impact of a second revaccination with either PCV13 or PPSV23 on SR. Additional objectives involved evaluating SP rates post-revaccination at every time point, analyzing serotype-specific responses through GMCs and GMRs, investigating the influence of hypogammaglobulinemia and CLL treatment on revaccination outcomes, and monitoring the incidence of invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) since the initial vaccination study (2013–2016), along with the prevalence of nasopharyngeal pneumococcal carriage.

SR was defined as a  $\geq$ 2-fold increase in serotype-specific IgG to  $\geq$ 0.35 µg/mL, and SP was defined as a post-revaccination IgG concentration of  $\geq$ 0.35 µg/mL. Both criteria had to be fulfilled for at least 70% (9-12 out of 12) of the shared serotypes. A higher cut-off of  $\geq$ 1.3 µg/mL, previously suggested as a protective threshold for immunocompromised adults, was also evaluated (154). Serotype-specific vaccine responses were further analyzed by calculating GMCs and GMRs for each serotype.

A bead-based fluorescent MIA was used to quantify serum IgG ( $\mu$ g/mL) levels against the 12 pneumococcal serotypes common to PCV13 and PPSV23 (1, 3, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19A, 19F, and 23F). The serological assay was performed and validated by the Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (THL), Helsinki, Finland as described previously, but some modifications (179).



Figure 9. Study design, study population and revaccination strategy among CLL patients and controls.

#### **Study IV**

This study re-analyzed serum samples collected from Study I, the multicenter randomized vaccination trial that enrolled treatment-naïve CLL patients to compare immune responses to PPSV23 and PCV13. In Study I, serotype-specific IgG concentrations were measured by Pfizer using EIA.

The primary objective of Study IV was to explore whether reanalyzing serum samples by MIA would influence the assessment of responses to vaccination in CLL patients, as compared to the original results, based on EIA. Blood samples for immunogenicity assessment were collected at three timepoints in Study I: immediately before vaccination, 4 weeks postimmunization and after 6 months. Serum samples were initially stored at minimum -20 °C at local sites. Upon study completion, all samples were transferred to Pfizer's Vaccine Research High-Throughput Clinical Testing Laboratory in Pearl River, NY, USA, for analysis. There, serum samples were evaluated using standardized EIA as described previously (177), and was performed for each of the 12 pneumococcal serotypes common to PCV13 and PPSV23 (serotypes 1, 3, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19A, 19F, and 23F).

After laboratory testing was finalized, the remaining serum samples were returned in 2018 and stored at Karolinska Institute, Sweden. In 2022, the samples were moved to the biobank at Örebro University, Sweden, before being shipped to THL in Helsinki, Finland, where MIA was used to quantify serum IgG concentrations ( $\mu$ g/mL) against the same 12 pneumococcal capsular polysaccharides. This serological assay was conducted and validated by THL and accredited by the Finnish Accreditation Service in compliance with SFS-EN ISO/IEC 17025 standards. Sufficient serum for reanalysis at THL was available from 56 patients (146 sampling events), including 27 who had received PCV13 and 29 who had received PPSV23.

Additionally, MIA analysis was performed and compared to WHO-assigned values for pneumococcal quality control serum samples using the WHO EIA for serotypes 1, 3, 4, 5, 6A, 6B, 7F, 9V, and 14 (12 samples from the WHO Pneumococcal QC Serum Panel, NIBSC code 12/278). For values below the detection threshold, both methods applied half the detection limit.

#### **Statistical analysis**

**Study I:** Since no previous clinical trials had evaluated pneumococcal vaccine responses in CLL patients using OPA geometric mean titers (GMTs) as a primary outcome, the initial sample size was estimated based on an expected immune response rate of 15% in PPSV23 recipients and 35% in PCV13 recipients—a difference of 20%. To detect this difference with 80% power ( $\beta = 0.20$ ) and a significance level of 5% ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ), a total of 145 evaluable patients was required. Allowing

for a 5% dropout rate, 154 patients (77 per group) were planned for inclusion. Due to slow recruitment, a revised power calculation was conducted after 120 patients had been enrolled. Based on new data from non-immunocompromised individuals, which suggested a larger difference between groups, it was concluded that a minimum of 120 patients would be sufficient to meet the primary study objective.

Statistical analyses of immunogenicity were conducted using linear mixed models to calculate geometric mean ratios (GMRs), incorporating vaccination group, time points (e.g. 1 and 6 months) and their interaction. The data were log-transformed, and GMRs were presented as exponentiated estimates. Responder rates were evaluated using logistic regression models, with vaccination group and baseline antibody levels as predictors. All results were reported with 95% confidence intervals and p-values. Missing or indeterminate values were excluded from the analyses without imputation.

Study II: Normality of the data was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test. For inter-group comparisons, the Mann-Whitney U test was applied to non-normally distributed variables, while normally distributed variables were analyzed using the independent t-test. Categorical variables were compared using the chi-square test. For paired samples, the Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-rank test was used. Expansion of a B-cell subset was defined as an increase in its percentage from baseline to post-revaccination. A p-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 25 Study III: Baseline characteristics were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test for continuous variables and either the chi-square or Fisher's exact test for categorical variables. SR and SP rates were compared using random intercept mixed Poisson regression models, with results presented as relative risk ratios (RR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI). Fixed effects included group, time (five years after primary immunization, eight weeks after first and second revaccination, and 12 months after first revaccination), and their interaction (group  $\times$ time). Missing data were assumed to be missing at random, and pretreatment status (PCV13 or PPSV23) was included as an adjustment when comparing CLL patients with controls.

In cases where the mixed model did not converge due to sparse data, Exact McNemar's or Fisher's exact test was used. Serotype-specific GMCs of IgG were analyzed using a random intercept linear mixed model and reported as GMRs with 95% CIs. A p-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All analyses were performed using SPSS version 29 and Stata release 17.

**Study IV**: The correlations between IgG concentrations obtained from MIA and EIA (for serotypes 1, 3, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19A, 19F, and 23F), as well as between MIA and WHO EIA, were evaluated both graphically and by calculating concordance correlation coefficients (CCCs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs). CCCs were derived from log-transformed data for each serotype and interpreted according to predefined thresholds: <0.50 (poor), 0.50–0.75 (moderate), 0.75–0.90 (good), and >0.90 (excellent)(180).To compare serotype-specific IgG geometric mean concentrations (GMCs) between MIA vs. EIA and MIA vs. WHO EIA, linear regression was used, generating geometric mean ratios (GMRs) with 95% CIs as measures of association. These analyses were conducted at individual time points and across all time points combined, with robust standard errors adjusted for patient clustering in the latter analysis.

The proportions of patients with IgG concentrations  $\ge 0.35 \ \mu g/mL$  for individual serotypes, as well as those achieving SP, defined as IgG concentrations  $\ge 0.35 \ \mu g/mL$  for at least 70% (9-12/12) of the shared serotypes, were compared across methods using McNemar's exact test. A p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS version 29 and STATA release 17.

#### **Ethical considerations**

The studies have been performed in accordance with the ethical principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and good clinical practice. All patients and controls gave written informed consent to participate. The studies have been approved by the Swedish Ethical Review Authority and the Swedish Medical Products Agency. The studies were also registered in EUDRA-CT and at www.clinicaltrials.gov. Study I was monitored by the Karolinska Trial Alliance and Studies II and III were monitored by the Clinical Epidemiology and Biostatistics Unit, Region Örebro.

**Study I:** Swedish Ethical Review Authority: 2009/1731-31, 2009/1731-31/1, 2012/293-32, 2013/1000-32, 2014/2222-32). EudraCTnr: 2009-012642-22. Swedish Medical Products Agency: 151:2009/64686, Biobank: RBC 2013-368

**Study II:** Swedish Ethical Review Authority: 2018/483, 2019-02172, 2020-00982. EudraCTnr: 2018-003377-97. Swedish Medical Products Agency: 5.1-2018-86887, Biobank: RBC 19250 2 2018/483

**Study III:** Swedish Ethical Review Authority: 2018/483, 2019-02172, 2020-00982. EudraCTnr: 2018-003377-97. Swedish Medical Products Agency: 5.1-2018-86887, Biobank: RBC 19250 2 2018/483

**Study IV:** Swedish Ethical Review Authority: 2009/1731-31, 2009/1731-31/1, 2012/293-32, 2013/1000-32, 2014/2222-32)2022-00145-02, 2022-00145-02-234575, EudraCTnr: 2009-012642-22. Swedish Medical Products Agency: 151:2009/64686, Biobank: 2013-368

## Results

#### Study I

Of the 128 patients enrolled, 126 completed the one-month follow-up and were evaluable for the primary endpoint, while 123 completed the six-month follow-up. The median age at vaccination was 69 years, and the majority of patients were in Rai stage 0–I. Hypogammaglobulinemia were seen in 27% prior to vaccination.

One month after vaccination, PCV13 elicited higher OPA GMTs than PPSV23 for 10 of the 12 shared serotypes. A significantly greater proportion of PCV13 recipients showed a positive immune response compared to those receiving PPSV23: 25 of 63 (40%) in the PCV13 group versus 14 of 63 (22%) in the PPSV23 group (p = 0.034) (Figure 10). At six months, PCV13 continued to demonstrate higher OPA GMTs for five serotypes, with a higher overall response rate than PPSV23: 21 of 63 (33%) vs. 11 of 63 (17%) (p = 0.041). In ELISA analyses, PCV13 also resulted in higher serotype-specific IgG concentrations (GMCs) for 7 serotypes at one month and 6 at six months, although sample availability limited testing in some cases.

Subgroup analyses revealed that patients with hypogammaglobulinemia had significantly lower OPA GMTs across most serotypes. No vaccine responses were observed in patients with IgG levels below 4.9 g/L. Additionally, patients with a shorter disease duration (<31 months) showed stronger vaccine responses than those with longer disease duration. The impact of Rai stage could not be meaningfully evaluated due to the small number of high-risk patients.

The difference in immune response between the two vaccines declined over time and was generally lower after six months than after one month.



Figure 10. Immunogenicity data measured as OPA GMTs at baseline, 1 month, and 6 months after vaccination.

#### **Study II**

All participants had previously received pneumococcal vaccination, with a majority (71%) of controls having received PPSV23. The mean time from primary immunization to revaccination was similar between CLL patients and controls (63 vs. 65 months, p = 0.65). Median total Ig levels and all IgG subclasses were significantly lower in CLL patients compared to controls.

At baseline, plasmablasts were undetectable in CLL patients but present in all controls (p < 0.001) (Figure 11 and 12). Seven days after the first revaccination with PCV13, plasmablast proportions increased significantly in controls (p < 0.001), but not in CLL patients (p =0.13). Plasmablasts were detectable in four of the 14 CLL patients, three of whom had received PCV13 and one PPSV23 as primary immunization. In controls, no difference in response was observed between those primarily immunized with PCV13 versus PPSV23 (p =0.33). Seven days after the second revaccination, eight of 14 CLL patients showed increased plasmablast proportions compared to baseline (p < 0.01). Among patients who showed plasmablast expansion only after the second revaccination (n = 4), all had received PPSV23 as primary immunization and PCV13 at both revaccinations (p = 0.04). A second revaccination with PPSV23, after PCV13 had been given as both primary immunization and first revaccination, did not result in further increase in plasmablast proportions. Plasmablasts were not detected after any revaccination in patients with ongoing BTK inhibitor treatment or recent rituximab exposure. Among patients with hypogammaglobulinemia, three out of four with total IgG below the reference interval did not respond to either revaccination, while one responded only after the second PCV13 dose.

Regarding B-cell subsets, CLL patients had significantly lower or absent naïve B cells at baseline compared to controls (p < 0.001). Due to interference from the leukemic clone, switched and non-switched memory B cells were not clearly distinguishable in CLL patients and were presented together. No statistically significant expansion of total memory B cells was seen in CLL patients after first (p = 0.06) or second (p = 0.24) revaccination. In contrast, controls showed a significant expansion of switched memory B cells (p < 0.001), but not nonswitched memory cells (p = 0.16), and a significant reduction in naïve B cells (p < 0.001). Double-negative memory B cells were lower at baseline in CLL patients (p = 0.01) and did not increase significantly after either revaccination (p = 0.07 and 0.14), while a significant expansion was observed in controls (p = 0.01).



Figure 11. Plasmablast proportions in CLL patients (top) and controls (bottom) before and after pneumococcal revaccination



Figure 12. Flow cytometric analysis of plasmablast proportions before and after pneumococcal revaccination. Panels a-d show changes in a CLL patient primary immunized with PPSV23 and before and after each of two revaccinations with PCV13. Panels e-f show response from a healthy control before and after revaccination with PCV13.

#### **Study III**

At inclusion, 25% of CLL patients had hypogammaglobulinemia. The majority (82%) were treatment-naïve, 7% were in remission off treatment, and 9% were on BTK inhibitors or had received anti-CD20 therapy within the past 12 months. Five years after primary immunization with PCV13 or PPSV23, the proportion of CLL patients maintaining SP at  $\geq 0.35 \mu g/mL$  did not differ significantly between groups (14% vs. 5%, respectively; p=0.23), though CLL patients had significantly lower SP rates than controls (10% vs. 32%; p=0.006). None of the CLL patients, but two controls previously immunized with PCV13, reached SP at  $\geq 1.3 \mu g/mL$ . Serotype-specific IgG GMCs did not differ significantly between PCV13 and PPSV23 groups but were higher for 8/12 serotypes in controls compared with CLL patients.

Following PCV13 revaccination, SR was observed in 24% of group A (PCV13/PCV13) compared to 12% of group B (PPSV23/PCV13) (p=0.25) (Figure 13), whereas CLL patients overall had significantly lower SR rates than controls (18% vs. 42%; p=0.04). SP rates (≥0.35

 $\mu$ g/mL) increased significantly in all groups after revaccination (Figure 13 and 14). When the  $\geq$ 1.3  $\mu$ g/mL cut-off was applied, SP improved in group A and controls but not in group B. GMCs increased significantly after revaccination in both CLL patients and controls, with GMCs in 4/12 serotypes being higher in group A than in group B.

After a second revaccination, 30% of group B patients achieved SR, up from 12% (p = 0.017), and SP increased from 27% to 49% (p < 0.01) (Figure 13). No significant change was observed at the higher SP cut-off. In group A, second revaccination with PPSV23 did not lead to further increases in SR or SP. GMCs increased in 8 of 12 serotypes in group B, but no further increases were seen in group A. GMCs increased significantly in 8/12 serotypes after a second PCV13 revaccination but not after PPSV23, reducing the difference between groups seen after the first revaccination.

SP remained significantly lower in CLL patients compared to controls (40% vs. 71%, p = 0.002) after 12 months (Figure 14). SR rates declined significantly in group B (from 30% to 13%, p = 0.021), but not in group A. GMCs decreased over 12 months in both groups but remained higher than pre-revaccination levels. Decline was seen in 11 of 12 serotypes in group A and 6 of 12 in group B. GMCs remained higher in controls for 10 of 12 serotypes, and the antibody decline was less pronounced than in the CLL group.



Figure 13. Serological response (SR) after revaccination in CLL patients, group A and B, defined as 2-fold increase of IgG levels  $\geq$  0.35 ug/ml in at least nine (70%) of the 12 serotypes compared to baseline (top) and serological protection (SP) defined as  $\geq$ 0.35 ug/ml in at least nine (70%) of the 12 serotypes (botton).



Figure 14. Serological protection (SP), defined as  $\geq$ 0.35 ug/ml in at least nine (70 %) of the 12 serotypes, in CLL patients and controls five years after primary immunization and after revaccination,

#### **Study IV**

After excluding samples with insufficient quantity or indeterminate results, 127 samples from 46 patients (42 at baseline, 42 at 4 weeks, and 43 at 6 months post-vaccination) remained for comparative analysis between the two methods. MIA provided complete data for all 13 serotypes measured, while missing or incomplete data were more common in the EIA dataset due to quantity-not-sufficient (QNS) or indeterminate results.

Across all time points, IgG concentrations measured by MIA were consistently lower than those obtained via EIA (Table 2). The degree of correlation between MIA and EIA varied by serotype. The lowest correlation was observed for serotype 5 (CCC = 0.14), while the highest was seen for serotype 19F (CCC = 0.86). Based on predefined concordance thresholds, 2 of 12 serotypes showed poor correlation, 5 moderate, and 5 good correlation between methods. These differences impacted the classification of patients reaching the IgG threshold  $\ge 0.35 \text{ µg/mL}$ . For every serotype, fewer patients reached this threshold when measured by MIA than by EIA. For instance, for serotype 5, 23% reached  $\ge 0.35 \ \mu g/mL$  by MIA compared to 91% by EIA; for serotype 19F, 62% vs. 81%, respectively.

Using the SP definition with IgG  $\ge 0.35 \ \mu g/mL$  in at least 70% of the 12 shared vaccine serotypes, the proportion of CLL patients classified as protected was significantly lower with MIA than with EIA at all time points: 5% vs. 56% at baseline, 42% vs. 79% at 4 weeks, and 26% vs. 74% at 6 months (all p < 0.001) (Table 3).

Table 2. Comparison of serotype specific IgG geometric mean concentrations (GMC;  $\mu$ g/ml) and geometric mean ratios (GMR) with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) in CLL patients measured by MIA and EIA at all time points combined

-			MIA	EIA	MIA vs. EIA		
	no. of patients	no. of samples	GMC (µg/ml)	GMC (µg/ml)	GMR <sup>4</sup> (95% CI)	P	
All timepoints				ŝ.		1	
stl	45	114	0.13	0.32	0.40 (0.30 - 0.54)	<.001	
st3	45	117	0.19	0.34	0.56 (0.43 - 0.71)	<.001	
st4	46	123	0.08	0.19	0.42 (0.32 - 0.54)	<.001	
st5	46	126	0.09	1.83	0.05 (0.03 - 0.08)	<.001	
st6B	43	110	0.21	1.31	0.16 (0.11 - 0.22)	<.001	
st7F	46	123	0.55	1.16	0.48 (0.34 - 0.67)	<.001	
st9V	46	124	0.33	1.45	0.22 (0.16 - 0.32)	<.001	
stl4	46	127	1.14	2.12	0.54 (0.40 - 0.72)	<.001	
st18C	46	126	0.96	1.66	0.58 (0.44 - 0.76)	<.001	
st19A	46	127	0.80	3.61	0.22 (0.15 - 0.33)	<.001	
st19F	44	114	0.77	1.57	0.49 (0.40 - 0.59)	<.001	
st23F	45	120	0.42	1.74	0.24 (0.15 - 0.39)	<.001	

Table 3. Comparing proportions of patients with serological protection (SP) defined as  $\geq$ 0.35 ug/ml in at least nine (70 %) of the 12 serotypes, analyzed with MIA and EIA.

3			MIA ≥70% (9 of 12) serotypes ≥0.35 µg/ml	EIA ≥70% (9 of 12) serotypes ≥0.35 µg/ml	
	no. of patients	no. of samples	n (%)	n (%)	P"
All	44	116	28 (24.1)	81 (69.8)	<.001
Baseline	39	39	2 (5.1)	22 (56.4)	<.001
4 weeks after vaccination	42	42	16 (42.1)	30 (79.0)	<.001
6 months after vaccination	43	43	10 (25.6)	29 (74.4)	<.001

## **General discussion**

The immunodeficiency observed in patients with CLL not only predisposes them to infectious complications but also significantly impairs their ability to mount effective immune responses to vaccinations. Given that pneumococcal infections represent one of the most common and severe infectious threats to CLL patients, preventive strategies are of high importance. Vaccination is an established approach to reduce the risk of severe pneumococcal disease; however, multiple studies have demonstrated that CLL patients have an impaired response to various vaccines, with the SARS-CoV-2 vaccine being the most extensively investigated. Only a few studies have previously evaluated pneumococcal vaccines in CLL and vaccine strategies need to be improved. The studies presented in this thesis contribute to the understanding of the immune response to pneumococcal vaccination in CLL and may contribute to optimization of vaccination recommendations and improvement of protection against infections.

#### Efficacy of pneumococcal vaccines in CLL

Study I, conducted between 2013 and 2016, is the first and only randomized pneumococcal vaccine study in CLL patients. The findings demonstrated enhanced immunogenicity of conjugate vaccines compared with polysaccharide vaccines, as measured using both ELISA and OPA, supporting the use of conjugate vaccines in this patient group. These findings also supported the vaccine recommendations that were updated 2016, including conjugate vaccine as part of primary immunization in CLL patients. Since then, the recommendation has been to administer PCV13 followed by PPSV23, 8 weeks later, a strategy supported by studies in healthy adults (181). However, only one study has previously evaluated this sequential primary immunization strategy in CLL, finding no additional benefit from adding PPSV23 (175). Similarly, in a study where PPSV23 was administered 5 years after PCV13, no improvement in immunity was found (171). The results of Study III confirm the lack of benefit from polysaccharide vaccines in CLL patients, raising questions about the role of PPSV23 in vaccination strategies for this group. This is further supported by the findings of Study II, which showed that plasmablast

responses improved only following administration of conjugate vaccines. However, with the recent availability of PCV20, the recommendation has shifted to a single dose of PCV20 for CLL patients (130, 163), decreasing the need for broadening serotype protection with PPSV23. Results of Study I confirm, in a larger study group compared with previous smaller studies (165, 166), that pneumococcal vaccination early in the disease course is beneficial for CLL patients, a principle that is now also incorporated into several vaccination recommendations and guidelines (8, 25, 115, 161). Further, results from both Study I and Study III confirm that hypogammaglobulinemia is a negative prognostic factor for vaccine response, defining a patient subgroup that requires special attention regarding infection susceptibility and improved vaccination strategies.

Evaluating clinical outcomes to pneumococcal vaccination such as pneumonia or IPD is challenging due to the need for large study populations. In the CAPiTA study (with >80,000 participants) PCV13 reduced vaccine-type IPD by 75% and pneumococcal pneumonia by 45.6% (182). In CLL patients, a retrospective study by Draliuk (n>600) showed that PCV13 vaccination prior to treatment was associated with a 45% reduction in hospital admissions for pneumonia or sepsis (183). Mauro et al. assessed both serological and clinical outcomes in CLL, but the study was limited by a small cohort and short follow-up (172). In our studies, infections were not primary endpoints due to the limited study cohort; however, CRF data reported only one case of culture-confirmed pneumococcal pneumonia approximately four years after PPSV23 vaccination in Study I and no cases of IPD during the whole study period.

#### Long-term immunity and revaccination strategies

Low serotype specific IgG concentrations were observed 5 years after primary immunization in Study III, with only 14% of PCV13-vaccinated patients and 5% of PPSV23-vaccinated patients achieving SP (10% overall in CLL patients). Interestingly, even among immunocompetent controls, only 33% reached SP. Similarly, Lindström et al. (170) reported a decline in antibody levels 5 years after PCV7 in both CLL patients and controls. While these findings may support revaccination at a five-year interval, the decline in GMCs observed as early as 6 months in Study I and 12 months in Study III raises the possibility that earlier revaccination could be beneficial, although further studies are needed to confirm this. In a previous study of patients who underwent allogeneic stem cell transplantation, protective antibody levels – albeit with some serotype variability – were observed in 40% even a decade after primary immunization with repeated doses of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines (140). This suggests that repeated use of conjugate vaccines as a primary immunization strategy may offer advantages for both short- and long-term immune responses. Further investigation is warranted, particularly in subgroups of CLL patients who are expected to have a weaker vaccine response, such as those with hypogammaglobulinemia or ongoing/recent treatment.

When designing the revaccination studies (Studies II and III), the hypothesis was that revaccination with a conjugate vaccine would improve immunity in CLL. At the time the study was conducted, PPSV23 was still part of the recommended primary pneumococcal vaccination regimen, and half of the study participants had received either PCV13 or PPSV23 as their primary immunization. To ensure that all study participants received PPSV23, which covers a broader range of serotypes, a revaccination strategy was designed that would answer a) if PCV improved immunity after previous PCV or PPSV and if the effects differed depending on type of primary immunization, b) if adding PPSV to PCV improved immunity and c) if adding one more PCV after 8 weeks was safe and could further enhance the response, given the participants' underlying immune dysfunction. Our research hypothesis was supported by studies on healthy adults demonstrating that initial vaccination with PCV13 facilitates recall anti-pneumococcal responses upon subsequent vaccination, whether with a conjugate or polysaccharide vaccine (181).

We were unable to statistically confirm that priming with PCV13 enhanced the response to revaccination with another dose of conjugate vaccine after 5 years, but both the plasmablast response and serotype-specific IgG concentrations were higher in patients who had received PCV13 as their primary immunization. It is possible that this

hypothesis could be validated with a larger sample size, allowing for a more robust statistical analysis.

The results also confirmed however our hypothesis that revaccination with PCV13 after 5 years, regardless of type of primary immunization, improved immunity, but also that administration of two consecutive doses of PCV13 was beneficial.

Although repeated doses of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines have been shown to be safe in other patient groups and in studies on healthy adults (181, 184-186), it remains essential to evaluate vaccination strategies in clinical studies to confirm safety, before modifying recommendations. Additionally, hyporesponsiveness is a factor to consider when assessing pneumococcal vaccination and avoiding the use of PPSV23 could potentially reduce the risk of hyporesponsiveness (133, 134, 181). However, even though this was not a specific aim of the study and is mostly seen after PPSV, we did not observe any indication of this effect after revaccination with conjugate vaccines. AE and SAE were monitored for up to 8 weeks post-immunization, and all reported events in CLL patients and controls were grade I-II, consistent with expected reactions and supporting the overall safety of this vaccination strategy.

Nasopharyngeal samples were collected regularly throughout the study to assess the proportion of patients carrying *S. pneumoniae* and to determine whether carriage status changed following vaccination. The rationale for this investigation was based on the theoretical premise that conjugate vaccines may also induce mucosal protection. However, only two positive samples were detected (from two different patients, one from each study arm) preventing us from drawing any definitive conclusions on this matter. Additionally, no cases of IPD were reported among patients after the start of the first study and only one cultured-verified pneumococcal pneumonia, reflecting the fact that the study group was too small to reliably assess clinical outcomes.

Interestingly, the control group demonstrated surprisingly lower long-term antibody concentrations and vaccine response than expected, particularly when PPSV23 was administered as the primary vaccine. Although our study was not specifically designed to evaluate vaccine responses in healthy elderly individuals, we observed that they responded well to revaccination with PCV13, especially if primarily immunized with a conjugate vaccine. This finding warrants further investigation, as it may provide insight into the effects of immunosenescence in elderly individuals without diagnosed immuno-compromising conditions and also highlights the potential need for revaccination in this population.

#### Immune cell responses to pneumococcal vaccines

An additional aim in this vaccination project is to gain a deeper understanding of the immune cell response to vaccines, why peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) have been collected both pre- and post-immunization from a substantial number of study participants following PPSV23, PCV13, and COVID-19 vaccinations, for further study purposes.

The first step in this investigation was presented in Study II, where Bcell subsets and plasmablast responses were analyzed for potential indicators of the ability to respond to repeated pneumococcal revaccinations and as markers of early immune activation (187). A key finding was the significant differences in B-cell subsets and plasmablast levels before and after immunization between CLL patients and controls, highlighting that disruption of the normal B-cell compartment could be one factor contributing to the impaired ability to mount an effective vaccine response. The plasmblast dynamics before and after pneumococcal immunization confirm the findings of Pasiarski et al. (174), demonstrating that CLL patients have lower plasmablast levels compared with controls but that an increase is seen after vaccination with a conjugate vaccine. Moreover, their study supported an association between plasmablast expansion and antibody response, a finding also observed in other immunocompromised patient groups (188). Although defining serotype-specific IgG concentrations was not part of our study design, the plasmablast response observed in Study II aligns with the findings of Study III, both suggesting an enhanced immune response following PCV13. This supports the feasibility of using plasmablast expansion as a method for evaluating early vaccine responses.

In Study II, we also demonstrated that naïve B-cells were either undetectable or present at very low levels in CLL patients at baseline, whereas, in controls, the majority of circulating B-cells were naïve. The suppression of precursor B-cells, which are essential for antigen response, may contribute to and predict impaired immune responses following vaccination (189). Few studies have previously characterized the normal B-cell repertoire across different stages of CLL. However, low proportions of circulating pre-germinal center B-cells have been reported in both CLL patients and individuals with MBL (43, 46) and was confirmed in Study II. This finding suggests that the reduced numbers of certain B-cell subsets result from decreased production, rather than solely from a lower proportional representation due to clonal lymphocytosis in the blood. An interesting study on the normal B lymphocyte repertoire in peripheral blood of CLL patients treated with either BTKi or FCR concluded that BTKi treatment preserves antigen-experienced B cells, while naïve B cells are reduced (190). In contrast, following FCR, a large number of naïve B cells reappear (as seen in one of the patients in Study II) whereas antigen-experienced B cells appear to be depleted.

Additionally, the dynamics of B-cell subsets following revaccination in the control group showed an expansion of switched memory Bcells, exhausted B-cells and plasmablasts, along with a reduction in naïve B-cells. However, these expected vaccine-induced changes could not be assessed in all subsets in the CLL cohort due to disruption by the leukemic clone, which prevented verification of changes in the switched and non-switched B-cell populations.

#### Immune response in treated CLL patients

Although Studies II and III included limited numbers of patients undergoing treatment, the lack of response in those receiving active or recent therapy was consistent across all results, with neither antibody nor plasmablast response in case of ongoing BTKi or recent treatment with anti-CD20 antibodies. This is consistent with previous studies on various vaccines, which have demonstrated impaired immune responses associated with CLL-specific treatments (68, 111, 112, 173, 191-199). As BTKis are recommended as continuous treatment until progression, ongoing studies are exploring temporary discontinuation of BTKi before vaccination, which appears to be a promising approach (200-202). Additionally, studies on SARS-CoV-2 vaccination indicate that CLL patients who have undergone time-limited treatments and are in a treatment-free interval or disease remission have superior vaccine responses (195, 196). Repeated booster doses with Covid-19 vaccines in BTKi treated patients have demonstrated increased seroconversion rates, even in CLL patients who did not respond to the initial doses (195, 196, 203). Additionally, studies indicate the presence of an antigen-specific T-cell response, even in patients who fail to achieve seroconversion, which likely is important in the protection of severe disease (195, 204).

While little is known about these immune mechanisms in the context of pneumococcal vaccination, they underscore the need for further investigation—both into vaccination strategies and into T-cell responses, which remain largely unexplored. The timing of vaccination, especially early in the disease course and prior to treatment initiation, remains crucial for optimizing immune protection.

#### **Challenges in evaluating vaccine responses**

Throughout the performance of the studies in this thesis, significant differences in evaluating pneumococcal vaccine responses in CLL patients were encountered. Variability in response definitions, the number of serotypes analyzed and antibody measurement methods across studies has led to significant heterogeneity in the evaluation of pneumococcal vaccine responses in CLL patients (Table 1). The widely used cut-off values established by the WHO were originally designed to assess protection against IPD in vaccine studies for children (143), rather than clinical outcomes in immunocompromised adults. Orange et al. (2012) attempted to establish a consensus on cut-off values for immunocompromised patient groups (154) but these criteria have not been updated despite significant advancements in pneumococcal vaccination research. Furthermore, the methodologies used to evaluate antibody concentrations are shifting from EIA to MIA, and in some cases OPA, adding another layer of variability.

Although functional assays are considered the best way to correlate immune responses with protection, they remain costly, resource-intensive and require specialized research laboratories capable of applying complex methodologies. Most studies confirm that OPA correlates with EIA, whereas others report conflicting results (148, 167, 205-207), however, OPA remains the method by which antibody functionality is assessed and may better reflect protective immunity.

Differences in evaluation methods and cut-off thresholds are rarely addressed in studies, making cross-study comparisons challenging – a critical issue given the limited data available on CLL patients. Even within our own research, different evaluation methods and predefined response criteria were applied. In Study I, OPA GMTs (including predefined response cut-offs) and ELISA GMCs and GMRs were presented. In Study III, pneumococcal antibodies were evaluated using MIA, presenting GMCs and GMRs, but also adding predefined response criteria for SP and SR.

Validation studies support MIA as a replacement for EIA, with high inter-laboratory agreement (146, 208). However, most laboratories reported lower IgG concentrations for the majority of serotypes when using MIA, particularly within the  $\leq 1 \mu g/mL$  range. This may be due to the requirement for higher-avidity antibodies to bind antigens in the MIA assay, as well as increased nonspecific binding in EIA. This may also impact the conclusions drawn when evaluating serotype-specific IgG concentrations and responses in immunosuppressed patients, such as those with CLL, who typically exhibit lower IgG levels and impaired antibody responses. Tan et al. compared MIA to EIA in a clinical vaccine study, finding a linear correlation across all 13 serotypes after PCV13 immunization. However, EIA consistently measured higher IgG levels at the lower assay range and the authors suggested to lower cut-offs for certain serotypes to align MIA with EIAbased responder rates. In Study IV, we explored the impact of using different methods on response criteria from serum samples initially analyzed in Study I and re-analyzed in study IV. Findings suggest that the selected method can impact how vaccine responses are interpreted based on commonly used response criteria, ultimately influencing the conclusions of a clinical vaccine study. This observation has also been

investigated and discussed in previous studies (158, 159, 209). This underscores the need for standardization of laboratory methodologies and possibly adjusted cut-off levels, particularly in studies involving immunocompromised populations like CLL patients. Although efforts have been made to align laboratory methods at a general level (146, 210), their clinical application in pneumococcal vaccine studies and consensus on cut-offs to evaluate response and presumed protection has not yet been sufficiently addressed.

#### **Clinical and future aspects**

While this thesis has addressed several key questions, it has also highlighted new areas that warrant further investigation. Our findings on low protective antibody levels five years after primary immunization and the benefits of revaccination after five years with pneumococcal conjugate vaccines in CLL patients should initiate discussions on improving vaccination guidelines for this patient group.

# Optimizing vaccination guidelines and identifying high-risk subgroups

The result of this thesis underscores the need to refine vaccination strategies by addressing several critical aspects. These include the optimal timing of vaccination and revaccination (i.e. vaccine planning during the disease course), the identification of high-risk patient groups prone to infections and reduced vaccine responses, such as those with high disease burden, hypogammaglobulinemia or undergoing active treatment. This also includes a possible need for personalized vaccination strategies, tailored to different levels of immunodeficiency. Future studies should investigate whether certain CLL subpopulations would benefit from enhanced primary immunization strategies (e.g., repeated conjugate vaccines) in addition to later revaccinations to ensure sustained protection and if patients with more indolent disease could follow the same vaccination strategy as other risk groups. However, implementing differentiated vaccination strategies in CLL subgroups in clinical practice would require improved risk stratification tools. An ongoing study is using a machine learning model to predict the risk of infection or treatment within two years of CLL diagnosis (211). Additionally, in another publication, risk scores for predicting infection risks incorporating factors such as age, IGHV mutation status, Binet stage, and IgG levels have been proposed to stratify patients at diagnosis (212). Such approaches may be crucial for identifying individuals who could benefit from tailored vaccination strategies, ultimately enhancing infection prevention in CLL patients.

Additionally, large-scale, industry-sponsored treatment trials in CLL should incorporate secondary studies with a more comprehensive approach, focusing on immune function and restoration. Evaluating how different treatment regimens minimize immunosuppressive effects and improve immune reconstitution could help refine treatment and vaccine strategies. This integration would also aid in identifying optimal vaccination timepoints, particularly in relation to time-limited therapies.

With an increasing number of patients receiving continuous BTKi treatment, results from current studies investigating BTKi interruption to improve vaccine response are highly needed. If consistently positive outcomes are observed, this strategy may also be incorporated into vaccination guidelines, including the option to pause BTKi therapy at the time of vaccination in patients with stable remission. However, the optimal duration of such a pause remains unclear and will hopefully be addressed in upcoming study results.

The importance of vaccination early in the disease course should continue to be reinforced in clinical guidelines and actively implemented in outpatient clinics. Standardized vaccination information should be provided to patients at the time of diagnosis to improve adherence to vaccination recommendations, both among patients and healthcare providers.

The results of this thesis support current recommendations for primary immunization with PCV as early as possible after diagnosis and suggest revaccination at a minimum interval of five years. Furthermore, based on our findings, the use of polysaccharide vaccines in CLL patients is not supported. Further research is warranted to determine the optimal timing for revaccination, which may need to occur earlier than five years, considering the decline in serotype-specific IgG levels observed over time following both primary immunization and revaccination. Our research group is currently investigating MOPA responses in this study population to gain deeper insights into immune responses in the context of revaccination - data that may contribute to future vaccination guidelines for patients with CLL.

#### **Future research directions**

Future studies assessing multiple aspects of pre- and post-vaccination immunity may further improve our understanding of immune response dynamics and contribute to refining response criteria and vaccination strategies. As vaccine research progresses, it is important to recognize that applying a single, uniform cut-off value across all pneumococcal serotypes may not fully capture the complexity of the immune response. Emerging evidence suggests that serotype-specific thresholds may need to be revised to more accurately reflect protective immunity. Addressing this issue in future research is important to improve our understanding of serotype-specific vaccine effectiveness, both in the short and long term, and to refine the correlates of protection.

Future clinical vaccine studies in CLL should be designed to investigate the effects of repeated PCV administration as a primary immunization strategy, compared to the current single-dose regimen, in terms of both short- and long-term protection. Studies on dosing schedules may also be extended to other vaccines recommended for patients with CLL, such as herpes zoster and respiratory syncytial (RS) virus vaccines. Investigations should also aim to identify optimal approaches for subgroups at particularly high risk of poor vaccine response. This also includes exploring strategies for stratifying these patients based on known risk factors and evaluating criteria or tools applicable in clinical practice.

An important area for future research is T-cell immunity and its role in pneumococcal vaccine responses, an aspect that remains largely unexplored, both in patients with CLL and in the broader context of pneumococcal vaccination. Evaluating CD4+/CD8+ T-cells including Th1, Th2, Treg, Tfh, Th17 and NK cells through phenotypic assessment using flow cytometry, along with assessing antigen-specific responses following primary immunization and revaccination, would provide valuable insights into the immune mechanisms underlying vaccine responses in CLL patients and immunocompetent controls.

There is particular interest in further investigating Th17 cells, both in relation to disease pathogenesis and their potential role in the immune response to pneumococcal vaccination. In CLL, Th17 cells have been suggested to play a significant role in disease progression, with higherTh17 levels potentially exerting a protective effect (60, 63, 213). Th17 cells also appear to be involved in protection against pneumococcal infection and in vaccine responses (214, 215). Reduced Th17 levels have been observed in methotrexate-treated patients with rheumatic diseases, correlating with impaired antibody and plasmablast responses to pneumococcal vaccination (188). This subject warrants further investigation in the context of CLL. Key research questions include whether pneumococcal vaccination induces Th17, IL-17A, and Th17 memory responses in CLL patients and controls, and whether these responses correlate with increased IgG production and opsonophagocytic activity - or if baseline Th17 levels can even predict vaccine responsiveness.

Future research efforts in our group, already underway, include analysis of the extensive PBMC, serum and plasma samples collected throughout the study period (2013-2022), covering both primary immunizations and revaccinations with pneumococcal and COVID-19 vaccines in CLL patients and controls. This will yield a unique dataset capturing immune cell responses to polysaccharide vaccines, pneumococcal conjugate vaccines, vector-based vaccines and mRNA vaccines within the same study population. The cohort offers a valuable opportunity to assess B- and T-cell populations and to correlate these findings with patient characteristics, antibody titers, immune cell function (e.g., cytokine levels), vaccine type and vaccination strategies. Gaining a deeper understanding of these relationships may provide important insights into the immunological mechanisms underlying pneumococcal vaccine responses in CLL patients, potentially identifying predictors of vaccine efficacy and contributing to future strategies aimed at optimizing mucosal, humoral and cellular immunity.
#### Limitations

In Study I, one limitation was that approximately one third of participants did not have sufficient serum volume for ELISA analysis. Nevertheless, the available samples were adequate to evaluate the primary endpoint with OPA. Additionally, for at least 3 serotypes more than 30% had OPA titers above the LLOQ, potentially reflecting prior infections or vaccinations administered more than five years before inclusion. However, this information was not further specified in the CRFs at inclusion, which limits further interpretation. Despite this, significant increases in both GMTs and GMCs were observed, suggesting that these factors did not substantially affect the study's conclusions. Statistical adjustments were also made to account for differences in pre-vaccination antibody levels in the different groups. It should also be noted that the company responsible for performing the laboratory analyses also sponsored the study, which may introduce a potential source of bias despite efforts to ensure methodological quality.

In Study II, the sample size was limited due to recruitment being restricted to a single center and the requirement for PBMC sampling seven days post-immunization. Despite this, significant changes in plasmablast responses were observed before and after revaccination with conjugate vaccines. A further limitation was that plasmablasts and other B-cell subsets were assessed as proportions of the total B-cell population rather than as absolute cell counts, which may limit direct comparability between individuals or groups with differing B-cell numbers. Additionally, plasmablast kinetics were not correlated with pneumococcal antibody responses or T-cell responses, which could have provided a more comprehensive understanding of the immunological mechanisms underlying vaccine responsiveness.

Although Study III represents the largest study to date on pneumococcal revaccination in CLL patients, one limitation is the relatively small number of patients in each study arm. This may have prevented some findings from reaching statistical significance, although clear trends were observed. Moreover, measurements of serotype-specific circulating antibody concentrations do not necessarily reflect antibody functionality, studies of which would require OPA analysis. Furthermore, a limitation is that the current vaccine recommendations are based on PCV20, whereas this study used PCV13. However, the findings remain relevant for the other pneumococcal conjugate vaccines, as they share similar immunological principles and mechanisms of action. Additionally, as the majority of patients in this study were treatment-naïve, conclusions cannot be drawn regarding the impact of vaccination in the few CLL patients undergoing specific treatment regimens.

A major limitation of Study IV was that it was not specifically designed for direct method comparison. Although this analysis does not allow for definitive conclusions regarding methodological differences, it highlights the impact of method selection on the interpretation of vaccine responses. In addition, the sample size of the study is also small, meaning that individual samples can have a significant impact on the observed differences in concentrations measured by the EIA and MIA methods, which may affect generalizability of the results. Since the data consists solely of patient samples, it is likely that both the quantity and quality of antibodies in the subjects are deficient compared to healthy individuals. This may result in a higher number of samples containing low-avidity antibodies in the dataset and such samples may fall below the detection limit with the MIA method but yield positive results with the EIA method. Another limitation was therefore that the evaluation was not conducted also in a control group of immunocompetent individuals, making it unclear whether the observed differences are attributable to methodological variations or potentially the quality of antibodies in some CLL patients. Additionally, MIA analyses were conducted several years after EIA, requiring long-term storage and transport of serum samples, which could potentially affect sample quality. However, serum antibodies are generally considered stable, provided that freeze-thaw cycles are minimized and established storage protocols are followed. As far as we know, these conditions were adhered to in this study.

### Conclusions

- PCV13 induces a stronger immune response than PPSV23 in untreated CLL patients for most shared serotypes, although responses are impaired in patients with longer disease duration and hypogammaglobulinemia. These findings support administering PCV as early as possible after CLL diagnosis.
- Suppression of precursor B-cells and an impaired plasmablast response to pneumococcal revaccination were observed in CLL patients. Repeated revaccinations with PCV enhanced the plasmablast response, suggesting its potential as an early indicator of vaccine efficacy.
- Impaired antibody persistence was observed in CLL patients five years after immunization, but revaccination with PCV improved immunity. These findings highlight a potential need for revaccination in CLL and may support updates to vaccination guidelines for this patient population.
- Two consecutive doses of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines enhanced antibody responses further and should be evaluated systematically in subgroups with impaired immunity, such as patients with hypogammaglobulinemia or those undergoing active treatment.
- The choice of analytical method for antibody measurement may influence the interpretation of vaccine response according to established criteria. There is a need to harmonize response criteria and to evaluate the impact of assay selection in order to improve consistency in results and conclusions across pneumococcal vaccine studies in immunocompromised patients.

# Svensk sammanfattning (Summary in Swedish)

Patienter med blodsjukdomen kronisk lymfatisk leukemi (KLL) har en ökad risk för infektioner orsakade av *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (pneumokocker), en av de vanligaste orsakerna till lunginflammation. Vaccination mot pneumokocker kan förebygga allvarliga infektioner, men vaccinationssvaret är ofta nedsatt i denna patientgrupp eftersom både sjukdomen och dess behandlingar påverkar immunförsvaret negativt. Kunskapen om vilket vaccin och vilken vaccinationsstrategi som ger bäst immunsvar hos patienter med KLL är begränsad. För närvarande används två typer av pneumokockvaccin, konjugerat vaccin (PCV) och polysackaridvaccin (PPSV), vilka stimulerar immunförsvaret på olika sätt. Syftet med denna avhandling är att undersöka vilket pneumokockvaccin som ger bäst skydd hos KLL-patienter och om immunsvaret kan förbättras genom revaccination med PCV.

I studie I jämfördes PCV och PPSV hos KLL-patienter som ännu inte hade fått behandling för sin sjukdom. Vaccinationssvaret utvärderades efter 4 veckor och 6 månader, och resultaten visade att PCV gav ett bättre immunsvar än PPSV hos dessa patienter.

I **studie II och III** undersöktes kvarvarande immunsvar efter 5 år samt effekten av revaccination. Patienterna fick antingen två doser PCV med 8 veckors mellanrum eller en dos PCV följt av en dos PPSV. Immunsvaret utvärderades genom att mäta ökningen av antikroppar samt plasmablaster (antikroppsproducerande celler) före och efter vaccination. Resultaten visade ett lågt kvarvarande immunsvar efter första vaccinationen men att PCV förbättrade svaret. Detta stödjer att patienter med KLL kan ha nytta av revaccination efter fem år.

I **studie IV** undersöktes om valet av analysmetod vid antikroppsmätning påverkade tolkningen av immunsvar enligt etablerade kriterier för vaccinationssvar. Vi fann att valet av analysmetod hade betydelse för tolkningen, vilket understryker vikten av konsensus kring metodval och standardisering av hur immunsvaret ska utvärderas hos KLLpatienter efter pneumokockvaccination.

## **Acknowledgements**

I was fortunate to have two principal supervisors during my doctoral studies.

**Torbjörn Norén**, my principal supervisor for the majority of my doctoral studies, thank you for sharing your experience. Your steady guidance, broad perspective and persistent confidence in me have provided constant support and reassurance throughout my PhD journey.

**Simon Athlin**, my current principal supervisor, with your tireless dedication and genuine passion for research, we have built a project that can continue for many years to come. Thank you for your accessibility, research expertise and creative discussions. I look forward to many future collaborations.

**Bertil Uggla**, who has been my supervisor for many years, first as my clinical supervisor in internal medicine and hematology, later as cosupervisor in this PhD project. You have played a significant role in shaping the clinician I am today and your support throughout the research process has been invaluable. I have great respect for your knowledge and dedication. Thank you!

**Eva Kimby**, the reason these studies were initiated and continued. A never-ending source of inspiration, with deep knowledge, immense dedication and a genuine curiosity for almost everything. You are an essential contributor to this dissertation and I am deeply grateful for your availability, expertise, kindness and encouragement.

**Tobias Tolf**, an incredibly appreciated colleague in Uppsala, with whom I have shared many good conversations. You were the first author in Study I and kindly invited me to join the project. Thank you for a great start and for our continued collaboration.

Additional co-authors and the sub-investigators in the multicenter studies: P-O Andersson, Ylva Hammarlund, Sandra Lockmer, Ingmar Nilsson, Daniel Roth and Magnus Svensson. Thank you all for your dedication! A special thanks to Magnus Svensson, who made a significant contribution to the planning of the first study. Elisabet Tina and Seta Kurt at the Department of Clinical Research Laboratory in Region Örebro for your valuable expertise and support with immune cell analyses. I look forward to collaborating on future projects together.

**Anders Magnuson** for your invaluable help with statistical advice and calculations, and for your ability to communicate statistical concepts in a clinical context in a clear and comprehensible manner.

**Camilla Virta, Nina Ekström** and **Merit Melin** at the Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (THL), Helsinki, Finland, for a rewarding research collaboration on pneumococcal antibody analyses and your extensive expertise in the field.

To all **research nurses** at the study sites and at the Clinical Trials Unit in Örebro, for your tireless support in managing the patients included in the studies. Special thanks to **Åsa Olaisson, Katarina Ronquist** and **Eva Wahlström** at the Hematology Unit in Örebro, and to **Kerstin Hamberg Levedahl** in Uppsala, for your dedicated contributions.

My colleagues at the **Division of Hematology**, for creating a stimulating work environment. A special thanks to **Erik Ahlstrand**, head of division, and my dear friend and colleague **Signe Danielsson** for your constant support.

To the **Research Committee**, **Nyckelfonden**, and **ALF funding** in Region Örebro, as well as the **Uppsala-Örebro Regional Research Council**, for the financial support throughout this work.

The Swedish CLL group for the support.

To the **patients** who have contributed to research and the improvement of care - you are the most important! Additionally, I would also like to thank:

My dear parents, **Örjan** and **Sibylle**, for your lifelong support and for teaching me to balance hard work and ambition with contentment and the art of relaxation - an invaluable lesson, as it turned out!

My brothers, **Dag** and **Björn**, with their families, for our meaningful and unbreakable bond.

My family in Israel, far but always close. אני אוהבת אתכם

My friends, you know who you are - thank you for your sincere, warm and invaluable friendship.

Finally, my fabulous five: **Tal** - the one and only - and our four amazing sons: **Joav**, **Adam**, **Sam** and **David**. An endless source of love, joy and togetherness.

## References

- 1. Hallek M, Shanafelt TD, Eichhorst B. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Lancet. 2018;391(10129):1524-37.
- 2. Zhang S, Kipps TJ. The pathogenesis of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Annu Rev Pathol. 2014;9:103-18.
- 3. Kikushige Y. Pathogenesis of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and the development of novel therapeutic strategies. J Clin Exp Hematop. 2020;60(4):146-58.
- Hallek M, Cheson BD, Catovsky D, Caligaris-Cappio F, Dighiero G, Dohner H, et al. iwCLL guidelines for diagnosis, indications for treatment, response assessment, and supportive management of CLL. Blood. 2018;131(25):2745-60.
- Rawstron AC, Kreuzer KA, Soosapilla A, Spacek M, Stehlikova O, Gambell P, et al. Reproducible diagnosis of chronic lymphocytic leukemia by flow cytometry: An European Research Initiative on CLL (ERIC) & European Society for Clinical Cell Analysis (ESCCA) Harmonisation project. Cytometry B Clin Cytom. 2018;94(1):121-8.
- 6. Strati P, Shanafelt TD. Monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis and earlystage chronic lymphocytic leukemia: diagnosis, natural history, and risk stratification. Blood. 2015;126(4):454-62.
- 7. Slager SL, Lanasa MC, Marti GE, Achenbach SJ, Camp NJ, Abbasi F, et al. Natural history of monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis among relatives in CLL families. Blood. 2021;137(15):2046-56.
- Eichhorst B, Robak T, Montserrat E, Ghia P, Niemann CU, Kater AP, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2021;32(1):23-33.
- 9. Rai KR, Sawitsky A, Cronkite EP, Chanana AD, Levy RN, Pasternack BS. Clinical staging of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 1975;46(2):219-34.

- Binet JL, Auquier A, Dighiero G, Chastang C, Piguet H, Goasguen J, et al. A new prognostic classification of chronic lymphocytic leukemia derived from a multivariate survival analysis. Cancer. 1981;48(1):198-206.
- 11. International CLLIPIwg. An international prognostic index for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL-IPI): a meta-analysis of individual patient data. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(6):779-90.
- 12. Langerbeins P, Giza A, Robrecht S, Cramer P, von Tresckow J, Al-Sawaf O, et al. Reassessing the chronic lymphocytic leukemia International Prognostic Index in the era of targeted therapies. Blood. 2024;143(25):2588-98.
- 13. Montserrat E, Sanchez-Bisono J, Vinolas N, Rozman C. Lymphocyte doubling time in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: analysis of its prognostic significance. Br J Haematol. 1986;62(3):567-75.
- 14. Mkhwanazi ZA, Nyambuya TM, Mfusi SA, Nkambule BB. Prognostic markers in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia on targeted therapy, chemoimmunotherapy with anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prognostic factors. BMC Cancer. 2022;22(1):1218.
- 15. Dohner H, Stilgenbauer S, Benner A, Leupolt E, Krober A, Bullinger L, et al. Genomic aberrations and survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2000;343(26):1910-6.
- 16. Zenz T, Eichhorst B, Busch R, Denzel T, Habe S, Winkler D, et al. TP53 mutation and survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(29):4473-9.
- 17. Darwiche W, Gubler B, Marolleau JP, Ghamlouch H. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia B-Cell Normal Cellular Counterpart: Clues From a Functional Perspective. Front Immunol. 2018;9:683.
- Damle RN, Wasil T, Fais F, Ghiotto F, Valetto A, Allen SL, et al. Ig V gene mutation status and CD38 expression as novel prognostic indicators in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 1999;94(6):1840-7.

- 19. Hamblin TJ, Davis Z, Gardiner A, Oscier DG, Stevenson FK. Unmutated Ig V(H) genes are associated with a more aggressive form of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 1999;94(6):1848-54.
- 20. Mansouri L, Cahill N, Gunnarsson R, Smedby KE, Tjonnfjord E, Hjalgrim H, et al. NOTCH1 and SF3B1 mutations can be added to the hierarchical prognostic classification in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia. 2013;27(2):512-4.
- 21. Agathangelidis A, Chatzikonstantinou T, Stamatopoulos K. B-cell receptor immunoglobulin stereotypy in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Key to understanding disease biology and stratifying patients. Semin Hematol. 2024;61(2):91-9.
- 22. Baliakas P, Jeromin S, Iskas M, Puiggros A, Plevova K, Nguyen-Khac F, et al. Cytogenetic complexity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: definitions, associations, and clinical impact. Blood. 2019;133(11):1205-16.
- 23. Dighiero G, Maloum K, Desablens B, Cazin B, Navarro M, Leblay R, et al. Chlorambucil in indolent chronic lymphocytic leukemia. French Cooperative Group on Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. N Engl J Med. 1998;338(21):1506-14.
- 24. Burger JA, O'Brien S. Evolution of CLL treatment from chemoimmunotherapy to targeted and individualized therapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2018;15(8):510-27.
- 25. Regionala cancercentrum i samverkan. Nationellt vårdprogram för KLL. 2024. Report No.: Version 8.0.
- 26. Patz M, Isaeva P, Forcob N, Muller B, Frenzel LP, Wendtner CM, et al. Comparison of the in vitro effects of the anti-CD20 antibodies rituximab and GA101 on chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells. Br J Haematol. 2011;152(3):295-306.
- 27. Eichhorst B, Niemann CU, Kater AP, Furstenau M, von Tresckow J, Zhang C, et al. First-Line Venetoclax Combinations in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2023;388(19):1739-54.
- 28. Barr PM, Owen C, Robak T, Tedeschi A, Bairey O, Burger JA, et al. Up to 8-year follow-up from RESONATE-2: first-line ibrutinib

treatment for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood Adv. 2022;6(11):3440-50.

- 29. Brown JR, Eichhorst B, Lamanna N, O'Brien SM, Tam CS, Qiu L, et al. Sustained benefit of zanubrutinib vs ibrutinib in patients with R/R CLL/SLL: final comparative analysis of ALPINE. Blood. 2024;144(26):2706-17.
- 30. Roberts AW. Therapeutic development and current uses of BCL-2 inhibition. Hematology American Society of Hematology Education Program. 2020;2020(1):1-9.
- 31. Marshall JS, Upton JEM, Vliagoftis H, Hildebrand KJ, Byrne A, Watson W. Introduction to immunology and immune disorders. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol. 2024;20(Suppl 3):69.
- 32. Abul K. Abbas AHL, and Shiv Pillai. Cellular and Molecular Immunology2021.
- 33. Gil E, Noursadeghi M, Brown JS. Streptococcus pneumoniae interactions with the complement system. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2022;12:929483.
- 34. Baumgarth N. Innate-like B cells and their rules of engagement. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2013;785:57-66.
- 35. Schroeder HW, Jr., Cavacini L. Structure and function of immunoglobulins. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;125(2 Suppl 2):S41-52.
- 36. De Silva NS, Klein U. Dynamics of B cells in germinal centres. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(3):137-48.
- 37. Stebegg M, Kumar SD, Silva-Cayetano A, Fonseca VR, Linterman MA, Graca L. Regulation of the Germinal Center Response. Front Immunol. 2018;9:2469.
- Nutt SL, Hodgkin PD, Tarlinton DM, Corcoran LM. The generation of antibody-secreting plasma cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(3):160-71.
- 39. Riches JC, Gribben JG. Understanding the immunodeficiency in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: potential clinical implications. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2013;27(2):207-35.

- 40. Forconi F, Moss P. Perturbation of the normal immune system in patients with CLL. Blood. 2015;126(5):573-81.
- 41. Grywalska E, Zaborek M, Lyczba J, Hrynkiewicz R, Bebnowska D, Becht R, et al. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia-Induced Humoral Immunosuppression: A Systematic Review. Cells. 2020;9(11).
- 42. Hamblin AD, Hamblin TJ. The immunodeficiency of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Br Med Bull. 2008;87:49-62.
- 43. Hauswirth AW, Almeida J, Nieto WG, Teodosio C, Rodriguez-Caballero A, Romero A, et al. Monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis (MBL) with normal lymphocyte counts is associated with decreased numbers of normal circulating B-cell subsets. Am J Hematol. 2012;87(7):721-4.
- 44. Moreira J, Rabe KG, Cerhan JR, Kay NE, Wilson JW, Call TG, et al. Infectious complications among individuals with clinical monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis (MBL): a cohort study of newly diagnosed cases compared to controls. Leukemia. 2013;27(1):136-41.
- 45. Parikh SA, Chaffee KG, Larson MC, Hampel PJ, Call TG, Ding W, et al. Outcomes of a large cohort of individuals with clinically ascertained high-count monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis. Haemato-logica. 2018;103(6):e237-e40.
- 46. Criado I, Blanco E, Rodriguez-Caballero A, Alcoceba M, Contreras T, Gutierrez ML, et al. Residual normal B-cell profiles in monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis versus chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia. 2018;32(12):2701-5.
- 47. Arruga F, Gyau BB, Iannello A, Vitale N, Vaisitti T, Deaglio S. Immune Response Dysfunction in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Dissecting Molecular Mechanisms and Microenvironmental Conditions. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(5).
- 48. Narkhede M, Ujjani CS. Immune Dysfunction and Consequences in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2025;23(3).
- 49. Sampalo A, Navas G, Medina F, Segundo C, Camara C, Brieva JA. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells inhibit spontaneous Ig

production by autologous bone marrow cells: role of CD95-CD95L interaction. Blood. 2000;96(9):3168-74.

- 50. Parikh SA, Leis JF, Chaffee KG, Call TG, Hanson CA, Ding W, et al. Hypogammaglobulinemia in newly diagnosed chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Natural history, clinical correlates, and outcomes. Cancer. 2015;121(17):2883-91.
- 51. Friman V, Winqvist O, Blimark C, Langerbeins P, Chapel H, Dhalla F. Secondary immunodeficiency in lymphoproliferative malignancies. Hematol Oncol. 2016;34(3):121-32.
- 52. Freeman JA, Crassini KR, Best OG, Forsyth CJ, Mackinlay NJ, Han P, et al. Immunoglobulin G subclass deficiency and infection risk in 150 patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia & lymphoma. 2013;54(1):99-104.
- 53. Burger JA, Gribben JG. The microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and other B cell malignancies: insight into disease biology and new targeted therapies. Semin Cancer Biol. 2014;24:71-81.
- 54. Orsini E, Guarini A, Chiaretti S, Mauro FR, Foa R. The circulating dendritic cell compartment in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia is severely defective and unable to stimulate an effective T-cell response. Cancer Res. 2003;63(15):4497-506.
- 55. Manukyan G, Papajik T, Gajdos P, Mikulkova Z, Urbanova R, Gabcova G, et al. Neutrophils in chronic lymphocytic leukemia are permanently activated and have functional defects. Oncotarget. 2017;8(49):84889-901.
- 56. Camerini E, Amsen D, Kater AP, Peters FS. The complexities of Tcell dysfunction in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Semin Hematol. 2024;61(3):163-71.
- 57. Riches JC, Davies JK, McClanahan F, Fatah R, Iqbal S, Agrawal S, et al. T cells from CLL patients exhibit features of T-cell exhaustion but retain capacity for cytokine production. Blood. 2013;121(9):1612-21.

- 58. Vlachonikola E, Stamatopoulos K, Chatzidimitriou A. T Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: A Two-Edged Sword. Front Immunol. 2020;11:612244.
- 59. Motta M, Chiarini M, Ghidini C, Zanotti C, Lamorgese C, Caimi L, et al. Quantification of newly produced B and T lymphocytes in untreated chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients. J Transl Med. 2010;8:111.
- 60. Lad DP, Varma S, Varma N, Sachdeva MU, Bose P, Malhotra P. Regulatory T-cells in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: their role in disease progression and autoimmune cytopenias. Leukemia & lymphoma. 2013;54(5):1012-9.
- 61. Jain P, Javdan M, Feger FK, Chiu PY, Sison C, Damle RN, et al. Th17 and non-Th17 interleukin-17-expressing cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: delineation, distribution, and clinical relevance. Haematologica. 2012;97(4):599-607.
- 62. Yousefi M, Movassaghpour AA, Shamsasenjan K, Ghalamfarsa G, Sadreddini S, Jadidi-Niaragh F, et al. The skewed balance between Tregs and Th17 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Future oncology (London, England). 2015;11(10):1567-82.
- 63. Hus I, Bojarska-Junak A, Chocholska S, Tomczak W, Wos J, Dmoszynska A, et al. Th17/IL-17A might play a protective role in chronic lymphocytic leukemia immunity. PloS one. 2013;8(11):e78091.
- 64. Jadidi-Niaragh F, Ghalamfarsa G, Memarian A, Asgarian-Omran H, Razavi SM, Sarrafnejad A, et al. Downregulation of IL-17-producing T cells is associated with regulatory T cell expansion and disease progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Tumour biology : the journal of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine. 2013;34(2):929-40.
- 65. Hilal T, Gea-Banacloche JC, Leis JF. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia and infection risk in the era of targeted therapies: Linking mechanisms with infections. Blood Rev. 2018;32(5):387-99.

- 66. Langerbeins P, Eichhorst B. Immune Dysfunction in Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia and Challenges during COVID-19 Pandemic. Acta Haematol. 2021;144(5):508-18.
- 67. Kajuter H, Wellmann I, Khil L, Jockel KH, Zhang C, Fink AM, et al. Survival of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia before and after the introduction of chemoimmunotherapy in Germany. Blood Cancer J. 2021;11(10):174.
- 68. Vijenthira A, Gong I, Betschel SD, Cheung M, Hicks LK. Vaccine response following anti-CD20 therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 905 patients. Blood Adv. 2021;5(12):2624-43.
- 69. Garcia-Munoz R, Aguinaga L, Feliu J, Anton-Remirez J, Jorge-Del-Val L, Casajus-Navasal A, et al. Obinutuzumab induces depletion of NK cells in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Immunotherapy. 2018;10(6):491-9.
- 70. Pal Singh S, Dammeijer F, Hendriks RW. Role of Bruton's tyrosine kinase in B cells and malignancies. Mol Cancer. 2018;17(1):57.
- 71. Rogers KA, Mousa L, Zhao Q, Bhat SA, Byrd JC, El Boghdadly Z, et al. Incidence of opportunistic infections during ibrutinib treatment for B-cell malignancies. Leukemia. 2019;33(10):2527-30.
- 72. Palma M, Mulder TA, Osterborg A. BTK Inhibitors in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Biological Activity and Immune Effects. Front Immunol. 2021;12:686768.
- 73. Ghez D, Calleja A, Protin C, Baron M, Ledoux MP, Damaj G, et al. Early-onset invasive aspergillosis and other fungal infections in patients treated with ibrutinib. Blood. 2018;131(17):1955-9.
- 74. Varughese T, Taur Y, Cohen N, Palomba ML, Seo SK, Hohl TM, et al. Serious Infections in Patients Receiving Ibrutinib for Treatment of Lymphoid Cancer. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;67(5):687-92.
- 75. Chamilos G, Lionakis MS, Kontoyiannis DP. Call for Action: Invasive Fungal Infections Associated With Ibrutinib and Other Small Molecule Kinase Inhibitors Targeting Immune Signaling Pathways. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;66(1):140-8.

- 76. Mhibik M, Wiestner A, Sun C. Harnessing the Effects of BTKi on T Cells for Effective Immunotherapy against CLL. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;21(1).
- 77. Parry HM, Mirajkar N, Cutmore N, Zuo J, Long H, Kwok M, et al. Long-Term Ibrutinib Therapy Reverses CD8(+) T Cell Exhaustion in B Cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukaemia. Front Immunol. 2019;10:2832.
- 78. Davis JE, Sharpe C, Mason K, Tam CS, Koldej RM, Ritchie DS. Ibrutinib protects T cells in patients with CLL from proliferation-induced senescence. J Transl Med. 2021;19(1):473.
- 79. McDonald C, Xanthopoulos C, Kostareli E. The role of Bruton's tyrosine kinase in the immune system and disease. Immunology. 2021;164(4):722-36.
- 80. Sun C, Tian X, Lee YS, Gunti S, Lipsky A, Herman SE, et al. Partial reconstitution of humoral immunity and fewer infections in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia treated with ibrutinib. Blood. 2015;126(19):2213-9.
- Roberts AW, Davids MS, Pagel JM, Kahl BS, Puvvada SD, Gerecitano JF, et al. Targeting BCL2 with Venetoclax in Relapsed Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(4):311-22.
- 82. Fischer K, Al-Sawaf O, Bahlo J, Fink AM, Tandon M, Dixon M, et al. Venetoclax and Obinutuzumab in Patients with CLL and Coexisting Conditions. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(23):2225-36.
- 83. Di Pasqua LG, Abdallah MM, Feletti F, Vairetti M, Ferrigno A. Venetoclax-Related Neutropenia in Leukemic Patients: A Comprehensive Review of the Underlying Causes, Risk Factors, and Management. Pharmaceuticals (Basel). 2024;17(4).
- 84. de Weerdt I, Hofland T, de Boer R, Dobber JA, Dubois J, van Nieuwenhuize D, et al. Distinct immune composition in lymph node and peripheral blood of CLL patients is reshaped during venetoclax treatment. Blood Adv. 2019;3(17):2642-52.

- 85. Moreno C, Solman IG, Tam CS, Grigg A, Scarfo L, Kipps TJ, et al. Immune restoration with ibrutinib plus venetoclax in first-line chronic lymphocytic leukemia: the phase 2 CAPTIVATE study. Blood Adv. 2023;7(18):5294-303.
- 86. Svanberg Teglgaard R, Marquart HV, Hartling HJ, Bay JT, da Cunha-Bang C, Brieghel C, et al. Improved Innate Immune Function in Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Treated with Targeted Therapy in Clinical Trials. Clin Cancer Res. 2024;30(9):1959-71.
- 87. Tadmor T, Welslau M, Hus I. A review of the infection pathogenesis and prophylaxis recommendations in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Expert Rev Hematol. 2018;11(1):57-70.
- 88. Strati P, Parikh SA, Chaffee KG, Kay NE, Call TG, Achenbach SJ, et al. Relationship between co-morbidities at diagnosis, survival and ultimate cause of death in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL): a prospective cohort study. Br J Haematol. 2017;178(3):394-402.
- Rotbain EC, Niemann CU, Rostgaard K, da Cunha-Bang C, Hjalgrim H, Frederiksen H. Mapping comorbidity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: impact of individual comorbidities on treatment, mortality, and causes of death. Leukemia. 2021;35(9):2570-80.
- 90. Andersen MA, Eriksen CT, Brieghel C, Biccler JL, Cunha-Bang CD, Helleberg M, et al. Incidence and predictors of infection among patients prior to treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a Danish nationwide cohort study. Haematologica. 2018;103(7):e300-e3.
- Crassini KR, Best OG, Mulligan SP. Immune failure, infection and survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Haematologica. 2018;103(7):e329.
- 92. Andersen MA, Niemann CU. Immune failure, infection and survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia in Denmark. Haematologica. 2018;103(7):e330.

- 93. Shanafelt TD, Kay NE, Parikh SA, Achenbach SJ, Lesnick CE, Hanson CA, et al. Risk of serious infection among individuals with and without low count monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis (MBL). Leukemia. 2021;35(1):239-44.
- Morrison VA. Infectious complications of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: pathogenesis, spectrum of infection, preventive approaches. Best practice & research Clinical haematology. 2010;23(1):145-53.
- 95. Guarana M, Nucci M. Infections in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Hematol Transfus Cell Ther. 2023;45(3):387-93.
- 96. Andersen MA, Moser CE, Lundgren J, Niemann CU. Epidemiology of bloodstream infections in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a longitudinal nation-wide cohort study. Leukemia. 2019;33(3):662-70.
- 97. Garcia Garrido HM, Knol MJ, Heijmans J, van Sorge NM, Sanders EAM, Klümpen HJ, et al. Invasive pneumococcal disease among adults with hematological and solid organ malignancies: A population-based cohort study. Int J Infect Dis. 2021;106:237-45.
- 98. Backhaus E, Berg S, Andersson R, Ockborn G, Malmstrom P, Dahl M, et al. Epidemiology of invasive pneumococcal infections: manifestations, incidence and case fatality rate correlated to age, gender and risk factors. BMC Infect Dis. 2016;16:367.
- 99. Lindstrom V, Aittoniemi J, Lyytikainen O, Klemets P, Ollgren J, Silvennoinen R, et al. Invasive pneumococcal disease in patients with haematological malignancies before routine use of conjugate vaccines in Finland. Infect Dis (Lond). 2016;48(5):399-402.
- 100. Andersen MA, Niemann CU, Rostgaard K, Dalby T, Sorrig R, Weinberger DM, et al. Differences and Temporal Changes in Risk of Invasive Pneumococcal Disease in Adults with Hematological Malignancies: Results from a Nationwide 16-Year Cohort Study. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;72(3):463-71.
- 101. Mikulska M, Oltolini C, Zappulo E, Bartoletti M, Frustaci AM, Visentin A, et al. Prevention and management of infectious complications in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL)

treated with BTK and BCL-2 inhibitors, focus on current guidelines. Blood Rev. 2024;65:101180.

- 102. Chatzikonstantinou T, Kapetanakis A, Scarfo L, Karakatsoulis G, Allsup D, Cabrero AA, et al. COVID-19 severity and mortality in patients with CLL: an update of the international ERIC and Campus CLL study. Leukemia. 2021;35(12):3444-54.
- 103. Hedberg P, Blixt L, Eketorp Sylvan S, Killander Möller I, Lindahl H, Kahn FM, et al. Outcomes of the COVID-19 pandemic in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Focus on the very early period and Omicron era. Blood Adv. 2025.
- 104. Vitale C, Boccellato E, Comba L, Jones R, Perutelli F, Griggio V, et al. Impact of Immune Parameters and Immune Dysfunctions on the Prognosis of Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Cancers (Basel). 2021;13(15).
- 105. Gargiulo E, Teglgaard RS, Faitová T, Niemann CU. Immune Dysfunction and Infection - Interaction between CLL and Treatment: A Reflection on Current Treatment Paradigms and Unmet Needs. Acta Haematol. 2024;147(1):84-98.
- 106. Zhu Q, Tan DC, Samuel M, Chan ES, Linn YC. Fludarabine in comparison to alkylator-based regimen as induction therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Leukemia & lymphoma. 2004;45(11):2239-45.
- 107. Mauro FR, Frustaci AM, Visentin A, Vitale C, Bartoletti M, Oltolini C, et al. Severe infections in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia included in trials investigating BTK and BCL2 inhibitors. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2024;201:104408.
- 108. Langerbeins P, Giza A, Robrecht S, Cramer P, von Tresckow J, Al-Sawaf O, et al. Infections in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia treated with time limited targeted drug combinations. Am J Hematol. 2024;99(8):1620-3.
- 109. Teh BW, Tam CS, Handunnetti S, Worth LJ, Slavin MA. Infections in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: Mitigating risk in the era of targeted therapies. Blood Rev. 2018;32(6):499-507.

- 110. Chai KL, Wong J, Weinkove R, Keegan A, Crispin P, Stanworth S, et al. Interventions to reduce infections in patients with hematological malignancies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Blood Adv. 2023;7(1):20-31.
- 111. Pleyer C, Laing KJ, Ali MA, McClurkan CL, Soto S, Ahn IE, et al. BTK inhibitors impair humoral and cellular responses to recombinant zoster vaccine in CLL. Blood Adv. 2022;6(6):1732-40.
- 112. Roeker LE, Knorr DA, Thompson MC, Nivar M, Lebowitz S, Peters N, et al. COVID-19 vaccine efficacy in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia. 2021;35(9):2703-5.
- 113. Whitaker JA, Parikh SA, Shanafelt TD, Kay NE, Kennedy RB, Grill DE, et al. The humoral immune response to high-dose influenza vaccine in persons with monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis (MBL) and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). Vaccine. 2021;39(7):1122-30.
- 114. Dagnew AF, Ilhan O, Lee WS, Woszczyk D, Kwak JY, Bowcock S, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of the adjuvanted recombinant zoster vaccine in adults with haematological malignancies: a phase 3, randomised, clinical trial and post-hoc efficacy analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2019;19(9):988-1000.
- 115. Francis ER, Vu J, Perez CO, Sun C. Vaccinations in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Semin Hematol. 2024;61(2):131-8.
- 116. SLIPI-gruppen. SLIPI-riktlinjer för infektionsprevention hos immunsupprimerade patienter. Svensk Läkemedelsstrategi för Infektionsprevention (SLIPI); 2024.
- 117. Khan S, Allsup D, Molica S. An updated perspective on immunoglobulin replacement in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia in the era of targeted therapies. Front Oncol. 2023;13:1135812.
- 118. Scelfo C, Menzella F, Fontana M, Ghidoni G, Galeone C, Facciolongo NC. Pneumonia and Invasive Pneumococcal Diseases: The Role of Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine in the Era of Multi-Drug Resistance. Vaccines (Basel). 2021;9(5).

- 119. Estimates of the global, regional, and national morbidity, mortality, and aetiologies of lower respiratory infections in 195 countries, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet Infect Dis. 2018;18(11):1191-210.
- 120. Brooks LRK, Mias GI. Streptococcus pneumoniae's Virulence and Host Immunity: Aging, Diagnostics, and Prevention. Front Immunol. 2018;9:1366.
- 121. Geno KA, Gilbert GL, Song JY, Skovsted IC, Klugman KP, Jones C, et al. Pneumococcal Capsules and Their Types: Past, Present, and Future. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2015;28(3):871-99.
- 122. Bergman K, Harnqvist T, Backhaus E, Trollfors B, Dahl MS, Kolberg H, et al. Invasive pneumococcal disease in persons with predisposing factors is dominated by non-vaccine serotypes in Southwest Sweden. BMC Infect Dis. 2021;21(1):756.
- 123. Masomian M, Ahmad Z, Gew LT, Poh CL. Development of Next Generation Streptococcus pneumoniae Vaccines Conferring Broad Protection. Vaccines (Basel). 2020;8(1).
- 124. Folkhälsomyndigheten. Pneumokockinfektion (invasiv) sjukdomsstatistik. 2023.
- 125. Sir Almroth E. Wright M.D. FRS, W. Parry Morgan M.B. et al. Observations on prophylactic inoculation against pneumococcus infections and on the results which have been achieved by it. The Lancet. 1914;183(4715):87-95.
- 126. Musher DM, Anderson R, Feldman C. The remarkable history of pneumococcal vaccination: an ongoing challenge. Pneumonia (Nathan). 2022;14(1):5.
- 127. Borys D, Smulders R, Haranaka M, Nakano T, Chichili GR, Ebara M, et al. Safety, reactogenicity, and immunogenicity of a novel 24valent pneumococcal vaccine candidate in healthy, pneumococcal vaccine-naive Japanese adults: A phase 1 randomized dose-escalation trial. Vaccine. 2025;44:126545.
- 128. Pollard AJ, Bijker EM. A guide to vaccinology: from basic principles to new developments. Nat Rev Immunol. 2021;21(2):83-100.

- 129. Cripps AW, Folaranmi T, Johnson KD, Musey L, Niederman MS, Buchwald UK. Immunogenicity following revaccination or sequential vaccination with 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPSV23) in older adults and those at increased risk of pneumococcal disease: a review of the literature. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2021;20(3):257-67.
- 130. Folkhälsomyndigheten. Rekommendationer om pneumkockvaccinationer till riskgrupper <u>https://www.folkhalsomyndig-</u> <u>heten.se/publicerat-material/publikationsarkiv/r/rekommendat-</u> <u>ioner-om-pneumokockvaccination-/</u>. Stockholm, Sweden; 2019, reviewed april 2024.
- 131. Kobayashi M, Pilishvili T, Farrar JL, Leidner AJ, Gierke R, Prasad N, et al. Pneumococcal Vaccine for Adults Aged ≥19 Years: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United States, 2023. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2023;72(3):1-39.
- 132. Shiri T, Datta S, Madan J, Tsertsvadze A, Royle P, Keeling MJ, et al. Indirect effects of childhood pneumococcal conjugate vaccination on invasive pneumococcal disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2017;5(1):e51-e9.
- 133. Poolman J, Borrow R. Hyporesponsiveness and its clinical implications after vaccination with polysaccharide or glycoconjugate vaccines. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2011;10(3):307-22.
- 134. Papadatou I, Tzovara I, Licciardi PV. The Role of Serotype-Specific Immunological Memory in Pneumococcal Vaccination: Current Knowledge and Future Prospects. Vaccines (Basel). 2019;7(1).
- 135. Papadatou I, Spoulou V. Pneumococcal Vaccination in High-Risk Individuals: Are We Doing It Right? Clinical and vaccine immunology : CVI. 2016;23(5):388-95.
- 136. Cannon K, Elder C, Young M, Scott DA, Scully IL, Baugher G, et al. A trial to evaluate the safety and immunogenicity of a 20-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in populations of adults >/=65 years of age with different prior pneumococcal vaccination. Vaccine. 2021;39(51):7494-502.

- 137. ACIP Updates: Recommendations for Use of 20-Valent Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine in Children - United States, 2023. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2023;72(39):1072.
- 138. Cordonnier C, Einarsdottir S, Cesaro S, Di Blasi R, Mikulska M, Rieger C, et al. Vaccination of haemopoietic stem cell transplant recipients: guidelines of the 2017 European Conference on Infections in Leukaemia (ECIL 7). Lancet Infect Dis. 2019;19(6):e200e12.
- 139. Cordonnier C, Ljungman P, Juergens C, Maertens J, Selleslag D, Sundaraiyer V, et al. Immunogenicity, safety, and tolerability of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine followed by 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine in recipients of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant aged >/=2 years: an open-label study. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;61(3):313-23.
- 140. Cordonnier C, Labopin M, Robin C, Ribaud P, Cabanne L, Chadelat C, et al. Long-term persistence of the immune response to antipneumococcal vaccines after Allo-SCT: 10-year follow-up of the EBMT-IDWP01 trial. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2015;50(7):978-83.
- 141. Wernette CM, Frasch CE, Madore D, Carlone G, Goldblatt D, Plikaytis B, et al. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for quantitation of human antibodies to pneumococcal polysaccharides. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol. 2003;10(4):514-9.
- 142. LaFon DC, Nahm MH. Measuring immune responses to pneumococcal vaccines. J Immunol Methods. 2018;461:37-43.
- 143. Recommendations for the production and control of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines. WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization. Fifty-fourth report. Geneva, World Health Organization, (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 927), Annex 2. 2005.
- 144. Goldblatt D, Plikaytis BD, Akkoyunlu M, Antonello J, Ashton L, Blake M, et al. Establishment of a New Human Pneumococcal Standard Reference Serum, 007sp. Clinical and Vaccine Immunology. 2011;18(10):1728-36.

- 145. Dunbar SA. Multiplexed suspension array immunoassays for detection of antibodies to pneumococcal polysaccharide and conjugate vaccines. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2023;13:1296665.
- 146. Meek B, Ekstrom N, Kantso B, Almond R, Findlow J, Gritzfeld JF, et al. Multilaboratory Comparison of Pneumococcal Multiplex Immunoassays Used in Immunosurveillance of Streptococcus pneumoniae across Europe. mSphere. 2019;4(6).
- 147. Andrade DC, Borges IC, Laitinen H, Ekstrom N, Adrian PV, Meinke A, et al. A fluorescent multiplexed bead-based immunoassay (FMIA) for quantitation of IgG against Streptococcus pneumoniae, Haemophilus influenzae and Moraxella catarrhalis protein antigens. J Immunol Methods. 2014;405:130-43.
- 148. Romero-Steiner S, Frasch CE, Carlone G, Fleck RA, Goldblatt D, Nahm MH. Use of opsonophagocytosis for serological evaluation of pneumococcal vaccines. Clinical and vaccine immunology : CVI. 2006;13(2):165-9.
- 149. Song JY, Moseley MA, Burton RL, Nahm MH. Pneumococcal vaccine and opsonic pneumococcal antibody. J Infect Chemother. 2013;19(3):412-25.
- 150. Balloch A, Roalfe L, Ekstrom N, Nguyen CD, Spry L, Marimla RA, et al. Interlaboratory Comparison of the Pneumococcal Multiplex Opsonophagocytic Assays and Their Level of Agreement for Determination of Antibody Function in Pediatric Sera. mSphere. 2018;3(2).
- 151. Burton RL, Kim HW, Lee S, Kim H, Seok JH, Ku KY, et al. Assignment of opsonic values to pneumococcal reference serum 007sp and a second pneumococcal OPA calibration serum panel (Ewha QC sera panel B) for 11 serotypes. Vaccine. 2020;38(51):8145-53.
- 152. Siber GR, Chang I, Baker S, Fernsten P, O'Brien KL, Santosham M, et al. Estimating the protective concentration of anti-pneumococcal capsular polysaccharide antibodies. Vaccine. 2007;25(19):3816-26.

- 153. Dagan R. Relationship between immune response to pneumococcal conjugate vaccines in infants and indirect protection after vaccine implementation. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2019;18(6):641-61.
- 154. Orange JS, Ballow M, Stiehm ER, Ballas ZK, Chinen J, De La Morena M, et al. Use and interpretation of diagnostic vaccination in primary immunodeficiency: a working group report of the Basic and Clinical Immunology Interest Section of the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2012;130(3 Suppl):S1-24.
- 155. Park MA, Jenkins SM, Smith CY, Pyle RC, Sacco KA, Ryu E, et al. Pneumococcal serotype-specific cut-offs based on antibody responses to pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccination in healthy adults. Vaccine. 2021;39(21):2850-6.
- 156. Andrews NJ, Waight PA, Burbidge P, Pearce E, Roalfe L, Zancolli M, et al. Serotype-specific effectiveness and correlates of protection for the 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine: a postlicensure indirect cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;14(9):839-46.
- 157. Tan CY, Immermann FW, Sebastian S, Pride MW, Pavliakova D, Belanger KA, et al. Evaluation of a Validated Luminex-Based Multiplex Immunoassay for Measuring Immunoglobulin G Antibodies in Serum to Pneumococcal Capsular Polysaccharides. mSphere. 2018;3(4).
- 158. LaFon DC, Nahm MH. Interlaboratory variability in multiplexed pneumococcal antibody testing. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2019;143(3):1255-7.
- 159. Hajjar J, Al-Kaabi A, Kutac C, Dunn J, Shearer WT, Orange JS. Questioning the accuracy of currently available pneumococcal antibody testing. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2018;142(4):1358-60.
- 160. Matanock A, Lee G, Gierke R, Kobayashi M, Leidner A, Pilishvili T. Use of 13-Valent Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine and 23-Valent Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine Among Adults Aged >/=65 Years: Updated Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2019;68(46):1069-75.

- 161. Mikulska M, Cesaro S, de Lavallade H, Di Blasi R, Einarsdottir S, Gallo G, et al. Vaccination of patients with haematological malignancies who did not have transplantations: guidelines from the 2017 European Conference on Infections in Leukaemia (ECIL 7). Lancet Infect Dis. 2019;19(6):e188-e99.
- 162. Chan CY, Molrine DC, George S, Tarbell NJ, Mauch P, Diller L, et al. Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine primes for antibody responses to polysaccharide pneumococcal vaccine after treatment of Hodg-kin's disease. J Infect Dis. 1996;173(1):256-8.
- 163. Kobayashi M, Leidner AJ, Gierke R, Xing W, Accorsi E, Moro P, et al. Expanded Recommendations for Use of Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccines Among Adults Aged ≥50 Years: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices - United States, 2024. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2025;74(1):1-8.
- 164. Kamboj M, Bohlke K, Baptiste DM, Dunleavy K, Fueger A, Jones L, et al. Vaccination of Adults With Cancer: ASCO Guideline. J Clin Oncol. 2024;42(14):1699-721.
- 165. Hartkamp A, Mulder AH, Rijkers GT, van Velzen-Blad H, Biesma DH. Antibody responses to pneumococcal and haemophilus vaccinations in patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Vaccine. 2001;19(13-14):1671-7.
- 166. Sinisalo M, Aittoniemi J, Oivanen P, Kayhty H, Olander RM, Vilpo J. Response to vaccination against different types of antigens in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2001;114(1):107-10.
- 167. Svensson T, Kattstrom M, Hammarlund Y, Roth D, Andersson PO, Svensson M, et al. Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine triggers a better immune response than pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia A randomized study by the Swedish CLL group. Vaccine. 2018;36(25):3701-7.
- 168. Safdar A, Rodriguez GH, Rueda AM, Wierda WG, Ferrajoli A, Musher DM, et al. Multiple-dose granulocyte-macrophage-colonystimulating factor plus 23-valent polysaccharide pneumococcal vaccine in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a

prospective, randomized trial of safety and immunogenicity. Cancer. 2008;113(2):383-7.

- 169. Sinisalo M, Vilpo J, Itala M, Vakevainen M, Taurio J, Aittoniemi J. Antibody response to 7-valent conjugated pneumococcal vaccine in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Vaccine. 2007;26(1):82-7.
- 170. Lindstrom V, Aittoniemi J, Salmenniemi U, Kayhty H, Huhtala H, Itala-Remes M, et al. Antibody persistence after pneumococcal conjugate vaccination in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2018;14(6):1471-4.
- 171. Lindstrom V, Aittoniemi J, Salmenniemi U, Kayhty H, Huhtala H, Sinisalo M. Antibody response to the 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine after conjugate vaccine in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2019;15(12):2910-3.
- 172. Mauro FR, Giannarelli D, Galluzzo CM, Vitale C, Visentin A, Riemma C, et al. Response to the conjugate pneumococcal vaccine (PCV13) in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). Leukemia. 2021;35(3):737-46.
- 173. Andrick B, Alwhaibi A, DeRemer DL, Quershi S, Khan R, Bryan LJ, et al. Lack of adequate pneumococcal vaccination response in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia patients receiving ibrutinib. Br J Haematol. 2018;182(5):712-4.
- 174. Pasiarski M, Rolinski J, Grywalska E, Stelmach-Goldys A, Korona-Glowniak I, Gozdz S, et al. Antibody and plasmablast response to 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients--preliminary report. PloS one. 2014;9(12):e114966.
- 175. Haggenburg S, Garcia Garrido HM, Kant IMJ, Van der Straaten HM, De Boer F, Kersting S, et al. Immunogenicity of the 13-Valent Pneumococcal Conjugated Vaccine Followed by the 23-Valent Polysaccharide Vaccine in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Vaccines (Basel). 2023;11(7).

- 176. Kättström M, Uggla B, Virta C, Melin M, Ekström N, Magnuson A, et al. Revaccination with pneumococcal conjugate vaccine five years after primary immunization improves immunity in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Haematologica. 2025.
- 177. Gadzinowski J, Albrecht P, Hasiec B, Konior R, Dziduch J, Witor A, et al. Phase 3 trial evaluating the immunogenicity, safety, and tolerability of manufacturing scale 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. Vaccine. 2011;29(16):2947-55.
- 178. Cooper D, Yu X, Sidhu M, Nahm MH, Fernsten P, Jansen KU. The 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV13) elicits crossfunctional opsonophagocytic killing responses in humans to Streptococcus pneumoniae serotypes 6C and 7A. Vaccine. 2011;29(41):7207-11.
- 179. Timby N, Hernell O, Vaarala O, Melin M, Lonnerdal B, Domellof M. Infections in infants fed formula supplemented with bovine milk fat globule membranes. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2015;60(3):384-9.
- 180. Koo TK, Li MY. A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research. J Chiropr Med. 2016;15(2):155-63.
- 181. Jackson LA, Gurtman A, van Cleeff M, Frenck RW, Treanor J, Jansen KU, et al. Influence of initial vaccination with 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine or 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine on anti-pneumococcal responses following subsequent pneumococcal vaccination in adults 50 years and older. Vaccine. 2013;31(35):3594-602.
- 182. Theilacker C, Fletcher MA, Jodar L, Gessner BD. PCV13 Vaccination of Adults against Pneumococcal Disease: What We Have Learned from the Community-Acquired Pneumonia Immunization Trial in Adults (CAPiTA). Microorganisms. 2022;10(1).
- 183. Draliuk R, Shadmi E, Preis M, Dagan E. Association between PCV13 pneumococcal vaccination and risk of hospital admissions due to pneumonia or sepsis among patients with haematological

malignancies: a single-centre retrospective cohort study in Israel. BMJ Open. 2022;12(4):e056986.

- 184. Jackson LA, Gurtman A, Rice K, Pauksens K, Greenberg RN, Jones TR, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of a 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in adults 70 years of age and older previously vaccinated with 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine. Vaccine. 2013;31(35):3585-93.
- 185. Gaultier GN, McCready W, Ulanova M. The effect of pneumococcal immunization on total and antigen-specific B cells in patients with severe chronic kidney disease. BMC Immunol. 2019;20(1):41.
- 186. Eriksson M, Kayhty H, Saha H, Lahdenkari M, Koskinen P, Makisalo H, et al. A randomized, controlled trial comparing the immunogenecity and safety of a 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccination to a repeated dose 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccination in kidney transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2020;22(4):e13343.
- 187. Kattstrom M, Uggla B, Tina E, Kimby E, Noren T, Athlin S. Improved plasmablast response after repeated pneumococcal revaccinations following primary immunization with 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine or 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Vaccine. 2023;41(19):3128-36.
- 188. Nived P, Pettersson A, Jonsson G, Bengtsson AA, Settergren B, Skattum L, et al. Methotrexate reduces circulating Th17 cells and impairs plasmablast and memory B cell expansions following pneumococcal conjugate immunization in RA patients. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):9199.
- 189. Diks AM, Overduin LA, van Leenen LD, Slobbe L, Jolink H, Visser LG, et al. B-Cell Immunophenotyping to Predict Vaccination Outcome in the Immunocompromised - A Systematic Review. Front Immunol. 2021;12:690328.
- 190. Schliffke S, Sivina M, Kim E, von Wenserski L, Thiele B, Akyuz N, et al. Dynamic changes of the normal B lymphocyte repertoire in

CLL in response to ibrutinib or FCR chemo-immunotherapy. On-coimmunology. 2018;7(4):e1417720.

- 191. Pleyer C, Ali MA, Cohen JI, Tian X, Soto S, Ahn IE, et al. Effect of Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor on efficacy of adjuvanted recombinant hepatitis B and zoster vaccines. Blood. 2021;137(2):185-9.
- 192. Douglas AP, Trubiano JA, Barr I, Leung V, Slavin MA, Tam CS. Ibrutinib may impair serological responses to influenza vaccination. Haematologica. 2017;102(10):e397-e9.
- 193. Din MAU, Liaqat H, Anwer F. Vaccine responses in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia on treatment with Bruton Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors: a focused review. Hematol Transfus Cell Ther. 2022;44(2):293-6.
- 194. Herishanu Y, Avivi I, Aharon A, Shefer G, Levi S, Bronstein Y, et al. Efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2021;137(23):3165-73.
- 195. Campanella A, Capasso A, Heltai S, Taccetti C, Albi E, Herishanu Y, et al. Additional booster doses in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia induce humoral and cellular immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 similar to natural infection regardless ongoing treatments: A study by ERIC, the European Research Initiative on CLL. Am J Hematol. 2024;99(4):745-50.
- 196. Herishanu Y, Rahav G, Levi S, Braester A, Itchaki G, Bairey O, et al. Efficacy of a third BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine dose in patients with CLL who failed standard 2-dose vaccination. Blood. 2022;139(5):678-85.
- 197. Zent CS, Brady MT, Delage C, Strawderman M, Laniewski N, Contant PN, et al. Short term results of vaccination with adjuvanted recombinant varicella zoster glycoprotein E during initial BTK inhibitor therapy for CLL or lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. Leukemia. 2021;35(6):1788-91.
- 198. Sun C, Gao J, Couzens L, Tian X, Farooqui MZ, Eichelberger MC, et al. Seasonal Influenza Vaccination in Patients With Chronic

Lymphocytic Leukemia Treated With Ibrutinib. JAMA Oncol. 2016;2(12):1656-7.

- 199. Wang KY, Shah P, Skavla B, Fayaaz F, Chi J, Rhodes JM. Vaccination efficacy in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia & lymphoma. 2022:1-15.
- 200. Tomasulo E, Paul S, Mu R, Tian X, Chen J, Pleyer C, et al. Interruption of BTK inhibitor improves response to SARS-CoV-2 booster vaccination in patients with CLL. Leukemia & lymphoma. 2023;64(14):2306-15.
- 201. Barber VS, Peckham N, Duley L, Francis A, Abhishek A, Moss P, et al. Protocol for a multicentre randomised controlled trial examining the effects of temporarily pausing Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy to coincide with SARS-CoV-2 vaccination and its impact on immune responses in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. BMJ Open. 2023;13(9):e077946.
- 202. Patten P CJ, Peckham N, Moss P, Phillips N, Abhishek A, Roberts T, Talbot G, Barber V, Francis A, Ashford F, Duley L, Hoogeboom R, Willett B, Parry-Jones N, Eyre TA, Wandroo FA, Hutchinson C, Murray DJ, Vandici G, Martinez-Calle N, Jenkins S, Parry HM. The Impact of Pausing Bruton Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Therapy and Responsiveness of Vaccination in Blood Cancer Patients: Primary Outcome Result for the Randomised Improve Trial. Blood. 2023;142(Supplement 1):1904.
- 203. Shen Y, Freeman JA, Holland J, Naidu K, Solterbeck A, Van Bilsen N, et al. Multiple COVID-19 vaccine doses in CLL and MBL improve immune responses with progressive and high seroconversion. Blood. 2022;140(25):2709-21.
- 204. Blixt L, Wullimann D, Aleman S, Lundin J, Chen P, Gao Y, et al. T-cell immune responses following vaccination with mRNA BNT162b2 against SARS-CoV-2 in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia: results from a prospective open-label clinical trial. Haematologica. 2022;107(4):1000-3.
- 205. Karlsson J, Roalfe L, Hogevik H, Zancolli M, Andreasson B, Goldblatt D, et al. Poor Correlation between Pneumococcal IgG and

IgM Titers and Opsonophagocytic Activity in Vaccinated Patients with Multiple Myeloma and Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Clinical and vaccine immunology : CVI. 2016;23(4):379-85.

- 206. Cordonnier C, Labopin M, Jansen KU, Pride M, Chesnel V, Bonnet E, et al. Relationship between IgG titers and opsonocytophagocytic activity of anti-pneumococcal antibodies after immunization with the 7-valent conjugate vaccine in allogeneic stem cell transplant. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2010;45(9):1423-6.
- 207. Anttila M, Voutilainen M, Jantti V, Eskola J, Kayhty H. Contribution of serotype-specific IgG concentration, IgG subclasses and relative antibody avidity to opsonophagocytic activity against Streptococcus pneumoniae. Clin Exp Immunol. 1999;118(3):402-7.
- 208. Pavliakova D, Giardina PC, Moghazeh S, Sebastian S, Koster M, Pavliak V, et al. Development and Validation of 13-plex Luminex-Based Assay for Measuring Human Serum Antibodies to Streptococcus pneumoniae Capsular Polysaccharides. mSphere. 2018;3(4).
- 209. Balloch A, Licciardi PV, Tang ML. Serotype-specific anti-pneumococcal IgG and immune competence: critical differences in interpretation criteria when different methods are used. J Clin Immunol. 2013;33(2):335-41.
- 210. Romero-Steiner S, Frasch C, Concepcion N, Goldblatt D, Kayhty H, Vakevainen M, et al. Multilaboratory evaluation of a viability assay for measurement of opsonophagocytic antibodies specific to the capsular polysaccharides of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol. 2003;10(6):1019-24.
- 211. Agius R, Brieghel C, Andersen MA, Pearson AT, Ledergerber B, Cozzi-Lepri A, et al. Machine learning can identify newly diagnosed patients with CLL at high risk of infection. Nat Commun. 2020;11(1):363.
- 212. Murru R, Galitzia A, Barabino L, Presicci R, La Nasa G, Caocci G. Prediction of severe infections in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a simple risk score to stratify patients at diagnosis. Ann Hematol. 2024;103(5):1655-64.

- 213. Gamal W, Sahakian E, Pinilla-Ibarz J. The role of Th17 cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: friend or foe? Blood Adv. 2023;7(11):2401-17.
- 214. Lindenstrom T, Woodworth J, Dietrich J, Aagaard C, Andersen P, Agger EM. Vaccine-induced th17 cells are maintained long-term postvaccination as a distinct and phenotypically stable memory subset. Infection and immunity. 2012;80(10):3533-44.
- 215. Lundgren A, Bhuiyan TR, Novak D, Kaim J, Reske A, Lu YJ, et al. Characterization of Th17 responses to Streptococcus pneumoniae in humans: comparisons between adults and children in a developed and a developing country. Vaccine. 2012;30(26):3897-907.